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Baldwin & Lyons, Inc.

Financial Highlights
Year Ended December 31

2004 2003 2002
(dollars in thousands, except per share data)

Operating revenue 1 $ 191,563 $ 165,258 $ 124,575 

Revenue 201,333 175,248 108,130 

Operating income 1 23,955 26,581 23,055 

Net income 30,306 33,075 12,366 

Cash flow from operations 72,344 56,871 38,105

Per share data - diluted 2

    Operating income $   1.62 $ 1.81 $ 1.57 
    Realized net gains (losses) on investments .43 .44 (.73)
    Net income 2.05 2.25 .84 

    Book value 22.04 22.00 19.43 

    Dividends paid to shareholders 2.05 .65 .32 

Return on average shareholders' equity 3 
    Operating income 8.5% 9.9% 9.0%
    Net income 10.8% 12.4% 4.8%

Combined ratio of insurance subsidiaries (GAAP basis) 97.4% 92.0% 91.3%

1  Operating revenue and operating income exclude realized net gains or losses on investments.
2  All per share amounts reflect a five-for-four stock split, effective February 17, 2003.
3  Average shareholders' equity excludes unrealized gains or losses on investments.

Note O - Stock Split
At its regular meeting in February, 2003, the Company's Board of Directors declared a 25% stock dividend in the form of a five-for-
four stock split on the Company’s Class A and Class B Common Stock.  The additional shares were distributed on March 3, 2003 
to shareholders of record on February 17, 2003.  Fractional shares were settled in cash using the closing market value on February 
17, 2003.  All share and per share references within this report have been restated to reflect the stock split.

Note P - New Accounting Pronouncement
In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 
123 (revised 2004), Share-Based Payment (“SFAS No. 123R”), which is a revision of SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based 
Compensation (“SFAS No. 123”) and supersedes APB Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees. SFAS No. 123R 
requires all share-based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, to be recognized in the financial state-
ments based on their fair values.  Pro forma disclosure is no longer an alternative.  

The company adopted the fair-value-based method of accounting for share-based payments effective with grants of market value 
options to non-employee directors during 2004 using the “modified prospective method” described in SFAS No. 148, Accounting for 
Stock-Based Compensation—Transition and Disclosure.  Currently, the company uses a Black-Scholes-Merton model to estimate the 
value of stock options granted to non-employee directors and expects to continue to use this acceptable option valuation model upon 
the required adoption of SFAS No. 123R on July 1, 2005.  The company does not anticipate that adoption of SFAS No. 123R will 
have a material impact on its results of operations or its financial position.  However, SFAS No. 123R also requires that the benefits 
of tax deductions in excess of recognized compensation cost to be reported as a financing cash flow, rather than as an operating cash 
flow as required under current literature.  This requirement will reduce net operating cash flows and increase net financing cash 
flows in periods after the effective date.  While the company cannot estimate what those amounts will be in the future (because they 
depend on, among other things, when option exercises occur), the amount of operating cash flows recognized in prior periods for 
such excess tax deductions were $226, $147, and $26 in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

For discounted stock options granted to employees and non-employee directors, there is no difference in the accounting treatment 
under SFAS No. 123 versus the previously used principle as provided by Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, Accounting 
for Stock Issued to Employees, and related Interpretations.



The year 2004 ended with the second best operating results in the Company’s history.  We continued to grow, 
with our net earned premium increasing 18% for the year.  Operating profitability was healthy with a consolidated 
combined ratio of 97.4% for our insurance subsidiaries, producing an underwriting gain of $4.4 million.  Adding 
agency profits and fee income, pre-tax operating income, not including investment income, was just short of $22 
million.  Cash flow was strong at $72 million positive.  Capital gains of nearly $10 million were realized during the 
year while unrealized gains and losses hardly changed. Our equity investments once again outperformed the S&P 
500 Index.

As stated, the year 2004 was “second” best.  Net income declined slightly from record 2003 results.  We earned 
$1.62 per share from operations versus $1.81 in the prior year.  The dip in income occurred as projected claim costs 
for our fleet trucking products increased, southeast third quarter hurricanes caused claims for our reinsurance as-
sumed coverages and non-profitability in the small business workers compensation product continued.

We decided to discontinue the small business workers compensation product written by Sagamore Insurance Com-
pany.  We attempted to build a sustainable business with the product for several years.  Loss ratios were satisfactory 
early on, but difficulty persisted in writing enough business to cause a reasonable expense ratio.  Our attempt to 
expand a small book of business by broadening offerings of class and territory resulted in the loss ratio deteriorating, 
which more than offset the positive impact of higher volume on the expense ratio.   With the continuing problems 
of medical cost inflation, fewer small employers furnishing health insurance, which we found tended to put pressure 
on employees to find work-related reasons for some medical problems, and renewed price competition, the game 
no longer appeared worth the admission price.  We began an orderly cessation of business, in the form of writing no 
new policies and allowing in force policies to expire without renewal, beginning in the fourth quarter of 2004.

We reported an estimated loss from the southeast hurricanes of the third quarter at $5 million.  Even with that 
estimate, which still appears accurate, total 2004 results for our reinsurance assumed product were profitable with a 
77% combined ratio.

Fleet trucking written by Protective Insurance Co. is the biggest and remains the core product for our Company.  
It consists of high limit casualty excess insurance above a client’s self-insured retention, which may be as low as 
$25,000 or as much as $3 million per occurrence.   We are one of the top specialists in this field, with many years 
and billions of miles of accident and loss statistics contained in our database.  That database is proprietary and 
unique, and we believe that very few, if any, other insurers possess similar rating information.  Coupled with this rat-
ing expertise is an unmatched level of experience in handling large trucking claims.  The seasoned experience of our 
claims staff contributes to the best of claim outcomes, but it also has shown us that, in 2004, the cost of the larger, 
more severe claims continued to escalate at a rate that outpaced general inflation.  During the past few years, the 
Company has purchased less reinsurance for fleet trucking exposures and has retained more net risk.  As claim costs 
continue to increase, and as we conservatively estimate those costs for the increased net exposure, the product’s 
profitability has declined with the combined ratio increasing from 90.2% last year to 98.1% in 2004.

Despite these challenges, we are optimistic that the results for this product will improve.  When claim costs increase, 
negatively influencing earnings, actions are required that increase premiums and/or reduce those claim costs.   Such 
actions will be selective and will include a continued emphasis on risk selection, loss prevention and proper pricing.  
Clients with adverse experience may elect larger self-insured retentions to keep premium increases to a minimum.  
Blanket rate increases are not likely in today’s marketplace, but since premiums for our products are calculated as 
a percentage of the client’s trucking revenues, and since truckers in general are raising prices and improving their 
revenue per mile, even level premium rates should result in more premium earned with lesser increase in exposure.
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TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS . . .Note L - Reportable Segments (continued)
One customer of the fleet trucking segment represents approximately $57,767, $47,693 and $39,359 of the Company’s consolidated 
direct and assumed premium written in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Note M - Concentrations of Credit Risk
The Company writes policies of excess insurance attaching above a self-insured retention ("SIR") and also writes policies that con-
tain large, per-claim deductibles.  Those losses and claims that fall within the SIR or deductible are obligations of the insured. The 
Company also writes surety bonds in favor of various regulatory agencies guaranteeing the insured’s payment of claims within the 
SIR.  Losses and claims under a large deductible policy are payable by the Company with reimbursement due the Company from 
the insured.  The Company requires collateral from its insureds to serve as a source of reimbursement if the Company is obligated to 
pay claims within the SIR by reason of an insured’s default or if the insured fails to reimburse the Company for deductible amounts 
paid by the Company. 

Acceptable collateral may be provided in the form of letters of credit on Company approved banks, Company approved marketable 
securities or cash.  At December 31, 2004, the Company held collateral in the aggregate amount of $216,317.  The amount of collateral 
required of an insured is determined by the financial condition of the insured, the type of obligations guaranteed by the Company, 
estimated reserves for incurred losses within the SIR or deductible that have been reported to the insured or the Company, estimated 
incurred but not reported losses, and estimates for losses that are expected to occur, within the SIR or deductible, prior to the next 
collateral adjustment date.  In general, the Company attempts to hold collateral equal to 100% of the ultimate losses that would be 
paid by or due the Company in the event of the insured’s default.  Periodic audits are conducted by the Company to evaluate its 
exposure and the collateral required.  If a deficiency in collateral is noted as the result of an audit, additional collateral is requested 
immediately.  Because collateral amounts contain numerous estimates of the Company’s exposure, are adjusted only periodically 
and are sometimes adjusted based on the financial condition of the insured, the amount of collateral held by the Company at a given 
point in time may not be sufficient to fully reimburse the Company for all of its guarantees or amounts due in the event of an insured’s 
default.  Further, the Company is not fully collateralized for the guarantees made for, or the deductible amounts that may be due 
from, the Company’s largest customer, and in the event of that customer’s default, such default may have a material adverse impact 
on the Company.  The Company estimates its uncollateralized exposure related to this Fortune 500 company to be as much as 30% 
of shareholders' equity at December 31, 2004 .

In addition, the Company has recorded paid and unpaid amounts recoverable from reinsurers under various agreements totaling 
$236,288 at December 31, 2004, as more fully discussed in Note E - Reinsurance.  With minor exception, these recoverables are 
uncollateralized.  Estimated amounts recoverable from four reinsurers in the group, each exceeding 10% of the total amount recover-
able from all reinsurers, totaled $113,544 at December 31, 2004.

Note N - Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited)
Quarterly results of operations are as follows:

Results by Quarter
2004 2003

1st 2nd 3rd 4th 1st 2nd 3rd 4th

Net premiums earned $35,497 $43,403 $44,384 $48,861 $31,701 $36,960 $37,513 $39,979 
Net investment income 3,172 3,008 2,958 3,149 3,373 3,124 2,987 3,389 
Realized net gains (losses) on investments 5,818 2,290 27 1,635 (2,452) 5,739 2,048 4,655 
Losses and loss expenses incurred 25,246 29,735 36,923 1 34,394 20,511 23,900 24,411 26,916 

Net income 10,899 8,864 3,460 1 7,083 4,532 10,301 8,122 10,120 

Per share - diluted:
   Income before realized 
      net gains (losses) on investments $  .48 $  .50 $  .23 1 $  .41 $  .42 $  .45 $  .46 $  .48 
   Realized net gains (losses)
      on investments .26 .10 - .07 (.11) .25 .09 .21 
   Net income $  .74 $  .60 $  .23 1 $  .48 $  .30 $  .70 $  .55 $  .69 

1 Includes approximately $5.0 million ($3.3 million and $.22 per share, after tax) in losses from hurricanes affecting Florida and 
other southeastern states.



With this product, only a small percentage of the losses incurred are actually paid in the first year or two.  There-
fore, the loss side of the combined ratio is composed mostly of reserves that are estimates of ultimate costs.  Since 
the Company now retains more net exposure, there are more net reserves today than in the recent past.  Historically 
the Company’s net claim reserves have consistently been more than adequate.  Should such favorable development 
continue, any future savings on today’s reserves, as claims are paid, will  add to future income.

More retained risk and premium, and increased trucking revenues, should equate to more net premium volume; 
and it has through 2004.  However, when the market begins to soften, as new companies enter and others attempt 
to expand with perhaps an unwise focus on top line growth, some business may be lost.  We have seen significant 
growth in this product the past few years with net premium earned having increased 155% since 2001 and 25% last 
year.  The growth came as we priced and marketed our product in a responsible manner.  That responsible approach 
will continue.

Our subsidiary Sagamore Insurance Company had a record year, even with the losses in its workers’ compensation 
product.  That now discontinued product’s results were more than offset by the successful year of the personal auto 
division.  Personal auto operated at a 93% combined ratio.   We do not include fee income, such as policy fees and 
installment fees, in our combined ratio calculation.  If those fees were included in the calculation, as many other 
companies do, personal auto’s combined ratio would have fallen to a rarely seen 86.5%.  About $42 million in 
personal auto premium was earned by Sagamore last year.  Policies are currently sold in 26 states with meaningful 
volume coming from just eight of those states.  The profitability now enjoyed by this division allows the obvious 
goal of increasing the number of significant production states and thereby increasing overall volume.  However, 
when new volume is written in quantity, we cannot expect the new volume to be as profitable as the old, for a loss 
ratio on new policies is generally higher than that on seasoned business.   Yet, with disciplined pricing and selection 
techniques, some profit should be expected.  The product’s overall combined ratio will likely rise with the addition 
of new business that will probably carry a  higher loss ratio, even though the expense ratio should decline with fixed 
expenses being spread over a larger base.  Yet, even with the expected higher combined ratio, the goal is to produce 
greater volume with more profit dollars on the bottom line.

The non-standard auto market is also seeing increasing competition with resultant market softening, which might 
be expected as participants are generally profitable and now strive to gain market share.  Increasing volume and 
profitably in such a market is challenging.  For the past couple of years, we have been perfecting a new product 
offering we titled “Lowpay Insurance.”  In the non-standard auto market, the customer is generally very interested 
in the amount of the down payment (how much cash is required to make the policy effective) and the amount of 
subsequent installment payments.   The amount of down payments and installments may be even more important to 
the prospective insured than the amount of the total policy premium.  Lowpay Insurance uses the latest in technol-
ogy for point of sale rating, quoting and binding with all data being transmitted via the Internet.  This efficiency, 
combined with a different billing approach, allows us to offer the lowest in down payments and installments.  In the 
fourth quarter of 2004, Lowpay Insurance, coupled with an innovative sales promotion, was introduced in a test state 
that previously produced minimal volume.  At this writing, nine weeks into 2005, that test state is now producing 
the highest weekly number of new policies for any state where we sell Sagamore’s personal auto insurance.   To this 
point, that sales volume and all other test results, including loss experience, remain encouraging, although I remind 
readers of my comments regarding loss ratios on new policies.  We are expanding the Lowpay Insurance product 
test to additional states.

Favorable combined ratios produce underwriting profits.  We believe that is certainly one important measure of 
well run insurance companies.  However, combined ratios tell only part of the story of operations and earnings.  
Investment income accounted for $12.3 million of the 2004 pre-tax operating income of $34.2 million.  We made 
progress last year with investment income, but continue to struggle with the low yield environment seen for the 
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TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS . . . Note L - Reportable Segments (continued)
The following table provides certain profit and loss information for each reportable segment for the years ended December 31:

For 2004 and 2003, the above amounts for voluntary reinsurance assumed include certain intersegment reinsurance agreements.  
Intersegment premiums earned during 2004 and 2003 were $1,609 and $1,239, respectively.  Intersegment losses and loss expenses 
incurred during 2004 and 2003 were $1,270 and $1,357, respectively.  

The following tables are reconciliations of reportable segment revenues and profits  to the Company’s consolidated revenue and 
income before federal income taxes, respectively.

2004 2003 2002
Direct and assumed premium written:

Fleet trucking  $172,406  $148,482  $112,355 
Non-standard private passenger automobile  40,976  42,342  35,466 
Small fleet trucking  14,689  15,086  10,514 
Voluntary reinsurance assumed  8,740  11,121  8,128 
Small business workers' compensation  9,058  9,665  6,321 
All Other  1,230  918  510 

Totals  $247,099  $227,614  $173,294 

Net premium earned and fee income:
Fleet trucking  $103,624  $82,545  $55,145 
Non-standard private passenger automobile  44,671  40,695  33,754 
Small fleet trucking  10,440  9,301  8,316 
Voluntary reinsurance assumed  11,070  11,994  7,739 
Small business workers' compensation  8,046  6,132  3,535 
All Other  1,095  806 414 

Totals  $178,946  $151,473  $108,903 

Underwriting gain (loss)
Fleet trucking  $25,783  $29,778  $22,718 
Non-standard private passenger automobile  6,052  4,476  2,527 
Small fleet trucking  360  123  1,340 
Voluntary reinsurance assumed  2,545  3,463  1,586 
Small business workers' compensation  (1,955)  (1,830) 157 
All Other  (1,247) 213  (619)

Totals  $31,538  $36,223  $27,709 

The Company, through its subsidiaries, is licensed to do business in all 50 states of the United States, all Canadian provinces and 
Bermuda.  Canadian and Bermuda operations are currently not significant.

2004 2003 2002
Revenue:

Net premium earned and fee income  $    178,946  $   151,473  $      108,903 
Net investment income  12,287  12,873  14,964 
Realized net gains (losses) on investments  9,770  9,990  (16,445)
Other income 330 912 708 

Total consolidated revenue  $    201,333  $   175,248  $      108,130 

Profit:
Underwriting gain (loss)  $      31,538  $     36,223  $        27,709 
Net investment income  12,287  12,873  14,964 
Realized net gains (losses) on investments  9,770  9,990  (16,445)
Corporate expenses  (9,606)  (10,053)  (8,398)

Income before federal income taxes  $      43,989  $     49,033  $        17,830 



past several years.  In 2002, pre-tax investment income fell 15.1% from the prior year.  In 2003, it dropped another 
14%.  This year it declined only 4.5%,  and most of that decline can be attributed to a shift to more tax-exempt 
investments, as witnessed by the after tax investment income declining only 1.2% from 2003.   Positive cash flow of 
$72 million mostly offset the fact that maturing investments were still reinvested at lower yields, in spite of the fact 
that we already had a very short duration fixed income portfolio.  As yields are now slowly increasing, especially at 
the short end of the curve, and with continuing expected positive cash flow, 2005 will surely be the year that invest-
ment income will stop declining, and might be expected to add additional amounts to overall income.  An increase 
of 50 basis points in after tax yield would increase the Company’s pre-tax income by almost $3.7 million, and its net 
income by $.16 a share.

Those familiar with the Company know that compared to the average property/casualty insurance company, we 
invest a higher percentage of assets in equities.  With a very low premium to surplus level, and with operations that 
consistently produce higher than average underwriting profits, we believe our larger investment in equities prudently 
allows the possibility of greater overall investment returns.  That strategy worked again in 2004, as our 12.0% total 
return on equity investments exceeded the S&P 500 index total return of 10.9%.  Our selected investment managers 
have, for six straight years, recorded results that have allowed our investment in equities to do better than the S&P 
index.  We expect that to continue.

Before concluding this letter, I should comment on the subject of dividends and specifically the dividends paid by the 
Company in 2004.  The amount of dividends paid by the Company the past two years, and especially in 2004, was 
probably not expected by shareholders.  Judging by the responses received, the payments came as a pleasant surprise 
to many.  As dividend payments were considered, as they are at each board of directors meeting, tax rates that cur-
rently allow dividends and capital gains to an individual to be taxed at 15%, while dividends to a corporation are still 
taxed at roughly 30% and capital gains at 35%, were noted.   Mindful of the Company’s results and capital needs, the 
payment of dividends, allowing shareholders a meaningful cash return on investment with the ability to invest that 
return at tax rates more favorable than the Company’s, was believed to be a fair and correct action for shareholders.  
In 2003, cash dividends were 65 cents.  Dividends of $2.05 were paid in 2004, representing an in the pocket yield 
of 8.2% on a stock price of $25.00.  An extra and regular dividend payment totaling 25 cents per share was paid on 
March 1, 2005, the sixth consecutive quarter in which extra dividends above the 10-cent regular quarterly rate have 
been paid.  A certain amount of dividends, or a certain payout percentage, should not be expected by shareholders. 
We are following no set formula for dividend payments.  As has been done each quarter, the subject of dividends will 
be addressed by the board of directors at each future quarterly meeting with consideration of the Company’s earn-
ings, returns on investments and its capital needs.

As always, I would like to thank my fellow employees for their dedication, perseverance and hard work.  You are 
good at what you do and you make operating in a difficult industry look much easier than it is.  Your good work, 
along with the experience and stability that a long tenured workforce provides, serves the Company well.  The Com-
pany also enjoys supportive shareholders.  This support allows us to manage the business in a prudent, responsible 
manner, focusing on long-term performance.  That we appreciate, and we shall strive not to disappoint.
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Gary W. Miller
Chairman & CEO

Note I - Stock Purchase and Option Plans (continued)
Exercise prices for options outstanding as of December 31, 2004 were $.80, $1.00, $20.60 or $26.00.  The weighted-average remain-
ing contractual lives of options exercisable at $.80 and $1.00 are 4.0 years and 9.4 years, respectively.  The remaining contractual 
lives of options exercisable at $20.60 and $26.00 are 3 years and 6.3 years, respectively.  Discounted options are granted to non-
employee directors in lieu of directors' fees.  In addition, during 2004, non-employee directors were each granted 1,500 options at 
market value on the date of grant.  The compensation cost that has been charged against income for all stock-based compensation 
plans, consisting of directors' fees only, was $256, $143 and $134 for 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

During 2002 and 2001, the Company offered loans to certain employees for the sole purpose of purchasing the Company's Class 
B common stock in the open market.  $2,514 and $4,828 of such full-recourse loans were issued and outstanding at December 31, 
2004 and 2003, respectively, and carry interest rates ranging from 4.75% to 6%, payable annually on the loan anniversary date.  The 
underlying securities serve as collateral for these loans, which must be repaid no later than 10 years from the date of issue.  This 
loan program was terminated in 2002.

Note J - Note Payable
During 2004, the Company borrowed $6,000 under lines of credit established with banks, all of which was outstanding at December 
31, 2004.  The average annual interest rate on these borrowings is 3.26% and repayment is due prior to September, 2005.  The car-
rying amount of these borrowings approximates fair value.

Note K - Employee Benefit Plans
The Company maintains a defined contribution 401(k) Employee Savings and Profit Sharing Plan ("the Plan") which covers all em-
ployees who have completed one year of service.  The Company's contributions to the Plan for 2004, 2003 and 2002 were $1,053, 
$978 and $864, respectively.

Note L  - Reportable Segments
The Company and its consolidated subsidiaries market and underwrite casualty insurance in five major specialty areas (reportable 
segments): (1) fleet trucking, (2) nonstandard private passenger automobile, (3) small fleet trucking, (4) the assumption of reinsur-
ance and (5) small business workers' compensation.  The fleet trucking segment provides multiple line insurance coverage to large 
trucking fleets which generally retain substantial amounts of self-insurance and to medium-sized trucking fleets on a first dollar or 
small deductible basis.  The nonstandard private passenger automobile segment provides motor vehicle liability and physical dam-
age coverages to individuals.  The small fleet trucking segment provides commercial automobile coverages to small trucking fleets 
and owner/operators.  The reinsurance assumed segment accepts retrocessions from selected reinsurance companies, principally 
reinsuring against catastrophes.  The small business workers' compensation segment provides workers' compensation coverages to 
small businesses and other entities.

The Company's reportable segments are business units that operate in the property/casualty insurance industry and each offers 
products to different classes of customers.  The reportable segments are managed separately due to the differences in underwriting 
criteria used to market products to each class of customer and the methods of  distribution of the products each reportable segment 
provides.  Segment information shown in the table below as "all other" includes products provided by the Company to assigned risks 
and residual markets as well as the runoff of discontinued product lines.

The Company evaluates performance and allocates resources based on gain or loss from insurance underwriting operations before 
income taxes.  Underwriting gain or loss does not include net investment income or realized gains or losses on the Company's 
investment portfolio.  All investment-related revenues are managed at the corporate level.  Underwriting gain or loss for the fleet 
trucking segment includes revenue and expense from the Company's agency operations since the agency operations serve as an 
exclusive direct marketing facility for this segment.  Underwriting gain or loss also includes fee income generated by each segment 
in the course of its underwriting operations.  Management does not identify or allocate assets to reportable segments when evalu-
ating segment performance and depreciation expense is not material for any of the reportable segments.  The accounting policies 
of each reportable segment are the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting policies.  Based upon these 
performance criteria, the Company placed the small business workers' compensation segment in runoff status effective during the 
fourth quarter of 2004.

TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS . . .
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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

1  Earnings and book value per share are adjusted for the dilutive effect of stock options outstanding.

2  All per share amounts have been adjusted for the five-for-four stock split effective February 17, 2003.  2004 and 2003 include 
extra dividends of $1.65 and $.25 per share, respectively.

3  Includes money market instruments classified with cash in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

4  Data is for all coverages combined, does not include fee income and is presented based upon generally accepted accounting 
principles.

5  Includes $20,000 relating to the events of September 11, 2001.

Year Ended December 31
2004 2003 2002 2001 2000

(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)

Direct and assumed premiums written $ 247,099 $ 227,614 $ 173,294 $ 120,308 $ 101,390 

Net premiums earned 172,145 146,153 104,392 83,138 77,439 

Net investment income 12,287 12,873 14,964 17,626 19,049 

Realized net gains (losses) on investments 9,770 9,990 (16,445) 5,053 12,473 

Losses and loss expenses incurred 126,298 95,738 68,107 81,870 5 57,470 

Net income 30,306 33,075 12,366 5,390 19,750 

Net income per share 1, 2 2.05 2.25 .84 .35 1.26 

Cash dividends per share 2 2.05 .65 .32 .32 .32 

Investment portfolio 3 577,428 515,843 448,520 439,434 442,060 

Total assets 868,563 769,857 644,462 601,109 552,164 

Shareholders' equity 326,548 324,574 284,588 288,360 294,000 

Cost of treasury shares purchased - -  8,978  2,154  17,018 

Book value per share 1, 2 22.04 22.00 19.43 18.98 19.21 

Underwriting ratios 4

   Losses and loss expenses 73.4% 65.5% 65.2% 98.5% 74.2%

   Underwriting expenses 24.0% 26.5% 26.1% 24.3% 28.1%

   Combined 97.4% 92.0% 91.3% 122.8% 102.3%

Note H - Earnings Per Share
The following is a reconciliation of the denominators used in the calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share for the years 
ended December 31:

No effect on net income was considered to result from the presumed exercise of the options used in calculating diluted earnings per 
share.  Certain market value options, granted in 1997, were included in the computation of diluted earnings per share for 2004 and 
2003.  These market value options were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share for 2002 because the exercise 
price during that year was greater than the average market price of the Company's stock.

2004 2003 2002

Average shares outstanding for basic earnings per share  14,641,300  14,562,310  14,609,727 

Dilutive effect of options  147,824  135,659  104,168 

Average shares outstanding for diluted earnings per share  14,789,124  14,697,969  14,713,895 

Note I - Stock Purchase and Option Plans
In accordance with the terms of the 1981 Stock Purchase Plan (1981 Plan), the Company is obligated to repurchase shares issued 
under the 1981 Plan, at a price equal to 90% of the book value of the shares at the end of the quarter immediately preceding the date 
of repurchase.  No shares have ever been repurchased under the 1981 Plan.  At December 31, 2004 there were 160,847 shares (Class 
A) and 439,708 shares (Class B) outstanding which are eligible for repurchase by the Company.

The Company maintains stock option plans and has reserved an aggregate of 1,312,500 shares of Class B common stock for the grant-
ing of stock options to employees and directors.  No options were granted to employees during the three year period ended December 
31, 2004.  All employee options outstanding at December 31, 2004 are exercisable.  Options granted to directors are generally not 
exercisable for one year from the date of grant.   All discounted options expire ten years after the date of grant.  Market value options 
granted to directors as part of their regular annual directors' fees expire seven years after the date of grant.  All of the Company's 
option plans have received shareholder approval.  Approximately 303,000 of such options are available for future grants.

A summary of the Company's stock option activity and related information for the years ended December 31 follows:

The fair value of the market value options granted during 2004 was determined using a Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing model with 
the following assumptions: risk-free interest rate of 1.0%; dividend yield of 1.6%; volatility factor of the expected market price of the 
Company's common stock of .30; and an expected life of the option of 7 years.  During 2004, the Company recorded expense, net of federal 
income tax, of $53 for these market value options using the straight-line method based upon a one-year vesting period.

2004 2003 2002
 Weighted  Weighted  Weighted 
 Average  Average  Average 
 Exercise  Exercise  Exercise 

 Options  Price  Options  Price  Options  Price 

Outstanding at beginning of year  655,561 $    18.36  690,162 $    17.48  689,776 $  17.48 

Granted:
   At exercise prices below market  7,898 1.00  6,938 .95  7,496 .80 
   At exercise prices at market  15,000 26.00 -  - - -
Exercised  131,770 10.72  41,539 .74  7,110 .30 

Outstanding at end of year  546,689 18.36  655,561 18.36  690,162 17.48 

Exercisable at end of year  523,791 20.28  648,623 18.54  682,666 17.66 

Weighted average fair value
   of options granted during the year:
   At exercise prices below market  7,898 25.71  6,938 20.54  7,496 17.93 
   At exercise prices at market  15,000 4.70 - - - -
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The primary sources of the Company’s liquidity are (1) funds generated from insurance operations including net 
investment income, (2) proceeds from the sale of investments and (3) proceeds from maturing investments.  The 
Company generally experiences positive cash flow resulting from the fact that premiums are collected on insur-
ance policies in advance of the disbursement of funds in payment of claims.  Operating costs of the insurance 
subsidiaries, other than loss and loss expense payments, generally average less than 30% of premiums earned on 
a consolidated basis and the remaining amount is available for investment for varying periods of time depending 
on the type of insurance coverage provided.  Because losses are often settled in periods different from when they 
are incurred, at times, operating cash flows may turn negative as loss settlements on claim reserves established 
in prior years exceed net premium revenue and receipts of investment income.  During 2004, positive cash flow 
from operations totaled $72.3 million compared to $56.9 million in 2003, generally in line with the increase in 
net premium earned during 2004.

For several years, the Company’s investment philosophy has emphasized the purchase of short-term bonds with 
maximum quality and liquidity.  As interest rates have declined and yield curves have not provided a strong incen-
tive to lengthen maturities in recent years, the Company has maintained and, during 2004, increased its short-term 
position with respect to the vast majority of its fixed maturity investments in anticipation of rate increases expected 
to occur in 2005.  The average life of the Company’s bond and short-term investment portfolio was 2.2 years and 
2.8 years at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.  The Company also remains an active participant in the 
equity securities market using capital which is not considered necessary to fund current operations.  The long-
term horizon for the Company’s equity investments allows it to invest in positions where ultimate value, and not 
short-term market fluctuation, is the primary focus.  Investments made by the Company’s domestic insurance 
subsidiaries are regulated by guidelines promulgated by the National Association of Insurance Commissioners 
which are designed to provide protection for both policyholders and shareholders.

The Company’s assets at December 31, 2004 included $97.2 million in short-term and cash equivalent investments 
which are readily convertible to cash without market penalty and an additional $144.9 million of fixed income 
investments (at par) maturing in less than one year.  The Company believes that these liquid investments, plus the 
expected cash flow from current operations, are more than sufficient to provide for projected claim payments and 
operating cost demands.  In the event competitive conditions produce inadequate premium rates and the Company 
chooses to restrict volume, the liquidity of its investment portfolio would permit it to continue to pay claims as 
settlements are reached without requiring the disposal of investments at a loss, regardless of interest rates in effect 
at the time.  In addition, the Company’s reinsurance program is structured to avoid serious cash drains that might 
accompany catastrophic losses.

Net premiums written by the Company’s U.S. insurance subsidiaries for 2004 equaled approximately 41% of the 
combined statutory surplus of these subsidiaries.  Premium writings of 200% to 300% of surplus are generally 
considered acceptable by regulatory authorities.  Further, the statutory capital of each of the insurance subsidiar-
ies substantially exceeds minimum risk based capital requirements set by the National Association of Insurance 
Commissioners.  Accordingly, the Company has the ability to significantly increase its business without seeking 
additional capital to meet regulatory guidelines.

As more fully discussed in Note F to the consolidated financial statements, at December 31, 2004, $79.2 million, 
or 24% of shareholders’ equity, represented net assets of the Company’s insurance subsidiaries which, at that time, 
could not be transferred in the form of dividends, loans or advances to the parent company because of minimum 
statutory capital requirements.  However, management believes that these restrictions pose no material liquidity 
concerns for the Company.  The financial strength and stability of the subsidiaries permit ready access by the par-
ent company to short-term and long-term sources of credit.  The Company has no long-term debt outstanding at 
December 31, 2004.  Short-term borrowing totaled $6.0 million at December 31, 2004.

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL 
CONDITION AND THE RESULTS OF OPERATIONSNote E - Reinsurance (continued)

Net losses and loss expenses incurred for 2004, 2003 and 2002 have been reduced by ceded reinsurance recoveries of approximately 
$103,730, $96,812 and $60,055, respectively.  Net losses and loss expenses incurred for 2004, 2003 and 2002 include approximately 
$6,349, $5,732 and $5,160 relating to reinsurance assumed from non-affiliated insurance or reinsurance companies.  Ceded rein-
surance premiums and loss recoveries for catastrophe reinsurance contracts were not material.  The Company remains liable to the 
extent the reinsuring companies are unable to meet their obligations under reinsurance contracts.

Components of reinsurance recoverable at December 31 are as follows:
2004 2003

Unpaid losses and loss expenses $  233,035 $  180,025 
Paid losses and loss expenses 3,253 5,326 
Unearned premiums 178 106 

$  236,466 $  185,457 

The Company's Class A and Class B common stock has a stated value of approximately $.04 per share.

Shareholders’ equity at December 31, 2004 includes $322,999 representing GAAP shareholder’s equity of insurance subsidiaries, of 
which $47,837 may be transferred by dividend or loan to the parent company with proper notification to, but without approval from, 
regulatory authorities.  An additional $196,018 of shareholder’s equity of such insurance subsidiaries may be advanced or loaned to 
the parent company with prior notification to and approval from regulatory authorities.

Net income of the insurance subsidiaries, as determined in accordance with statutory accounting practices, was $19,941, $22,851 
and $10,318 for 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.  Consolidated statutory shareholder’s equity for these subsidiaries was $319,436 
and $304,651 at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.  Minimum statutory surplus necessary for the insurance subsidiaries to 
satisfy statutory risk based capital requirements was $73,157 at December 31, 2004.

Note F - Shareholders' Equity
Changes in common stock outstanding and additional paid-in capital are as follows 

Additional
Class A Class B Paid-in

Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital
Balance at January 1, 2002 2,847,382 $ 121 12,252,415 $ 523 $ 36,272 
   Stock options issued - - - - 134 
   Stock options exercised - - 7,110 - 2 
   Fractional share adjustment from stock split (37) - (48) - - 
   Treasury shares purchased (180,679) (7) (376,664) (16) (1,160)
Balance at December 31, 2002 2,666,666 114 11,882,813 507 35,248 
   Stock options issued - - - - 142 
   Stock options exercised - - 41,541 2 29 
Balance at December 31, 2003 2,666,666 114 11,924,354 509 35,419 
   Stock options issued - - - - 256 
   Stock options exercised - - 131,770 5 1,408 

Balance at December 31, 2004 2,666,666 $ 114 12,056,124 $ 514 $ 37,083 

Note G - Other Operating Expenses
Details of other operating expenses for the years ended December 31:

2004 2003 2002
Amortization of deferred policy acquisition costs $  16,946 $  15,667 $  12,072 
Other underwriting expenses 18,115 18,329 14,158 
Expense allowances from reinsurers (20,458) (20,099) (17,641)

Total underwriting expenses 14,603 13,897 8,589 

Operating expenses of non-insurance companies 16,443 16,580 13,604 

Total other operating expenses $  31,046 $  30,477 $  22,193 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL 
CONDITION AND THE RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (CONTINUED)

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

2004 Compared to 2003

Direct premiums written for 2004 totaled $237.1 million, an increase of $21.5 million (10%) from 2003.  This 
increase is primarily attributable to an increase in fleet trucking liability premiums of $16.7 million (15%) from 
2003 levels.  Direct premium writings from the Company's independent contractor program also increased by $7.2 
million (18%).  These increases were partially offset by decreases in the Company's private passenger automobile, 
small business workers' compensation and small fleet trucking programs of $1.4 million (3%), $.6 million (6%) 
and $.4 million (3%), respectively.  Large trucking fleet volume increased primarily from the addition of new ac-
counts during 2004, increased revenues from renewal accounts and, to a lesser degree, premium rate increases.  
The higher premium volume from the independent contractor program resulted from the addition of contractors 
by existing accounts.  Increased competitive pressures are responsible for the decline in premium volume from 
the Sagamore personal automobile and small fleet trucking programs.  The decline in small business workers' 
compensation premium resulted from management's decision to discontinue marketing this business during the 
fourth quarter of 2004.

Premiums assumed from other insurers and reinsurers totaled $8.7 million during 2004, a decrease of $2.4 million 
(21%) from 2003 reflecting the discontinuance of a single large program for which renewal pricing was not con-
sidered to be favorable.  Premium volume from reinsurance assumed will fluctuate depending on the favorability 
of pricing for the coverages provided.  Further, premium volume for this segment is limited by the Company’s 
self-imposed limitation to loss from a single catastrophic event.

Premiums ceded to reinsurers increased $5.1 million (7%) during 2004 to $78.6 million.  However, the consolidated 
percentage of premiums ceded to direct premiums written decreased to 33% for 2004 from 34% for 2003.  This 
decrease is reflective of the Company's increased exposure under reinsurance treaties effective in 2003 and 2004 
covering large fleet trucking risks.  The Company's maximum retained loss under these treaties has increased over 
the last two years and, as a result, a lower percentage of the direct premiums are ceded to reinsurers.  There were 
no other significant changes to reinsurance treaties during 2004.

After giving effect to changes in unearned premiums, net premiums earned increased 18% to $172.1 million for 
2004 from $146.2 million for 2003.  Excluding inter-company reinsurance arrangements, net premiums earned 
from all trucking-related insurance products increased by $21.7 million (24%).  Net premiums earned from the 
Company's private passenger automobile and small workers' compensation programs also increased $3.4 million 
(9%) and $1.9 million (31%), respectively.  These increases were partially offset by a decrease in net premium 
earned from non-affiliated reinsurance assumed of $1.3 million (12%) from 2003.

Net investment income decreased $.6 million (5%) during 2004 reflecting lower overall pre-tax yields while aver-
age invested assets increased 11%.  The average pre-tax yield on invested assets dropped to 2.9% this year from 
3.3% during 2003 (13%).  The decline in yields occurred entirely within the bond portfolio which averaged 3.2% 
during 2004 compared to 3.9% last year.  A portion of this decline in pre-tax yield is attributable to the increased 
use of tax-exempt bonds during 2004.  Yields on equity securities and short-term investments increased to 3.3% 
and 1.2%, respectively, from 3.1% and 1.0%, respectively, during 2003, partially offsetting the decline in bond 
yields.  After-tax yields were 2.2% and 2.4% for 2004 and 2003, respectively.  As discussed in the Liquidity and 
Capital Resources section, the Company has maintained its bond portfolio at an increasingly short-term level 
during the past several years as long-term interest rates were not considered to be sufficient to commit funds for 
extended periods.  Increases in short-term rates during 2004 did not have a dramatic impact on longer-term rates, 
providing no incentive to lengthen maturities.  Consequently, the average yield on maturing bonds exceeded the 
reinvestment rate during 2004 as shorter-term instruments were utilized in anticipation of more dramatic increases 
in long-term rates in 2005 and beyond. 

Realized net capital gains were $9.8 million in 2004 compared to gains of $10.0 million for 2003.  The current 
year’s net gain consisted of gains on equity securities of $8.5 million, gains on fixed maturities of $1.9 million, 
and losses on other investments of $.6 million.  Capital gains for the current year include a net gain of $1.2 million 

Note D - Income Taxes (continued)
A summary of the difference between federal income tax expense computed at the statutory rate and that reported in the consolidated 
financial statements is as follows:

Cash flows related to federal income taxes paid, net of refunds received, for 2004, 2003 and 2002 were $14,865, $14,100 and $7,250, 
respectively, including Section 847 special tax deposits.  Future tax benefits on approximately $7,828 of deferred tax assets at De-
cember 31, 2004 arising from loss reserve discounting are assured based on Section 847 of the Internal Revenue Code.

The Company is required to establish a valuation allowance for any portion of the gross deferred tax asset that management believes 
will not be realized.  Management has determined that no such valuation allowance is necessary at December 31, 2004.

2004 2003 2002
Statutory federal income rate applied to
   pretax income $   15,396 $   17,162 $    6,240 
Tax effect of (deduction):
   Tax-exempt investment income (1,440) (1,174) (1,081)
   Other (273) (30) 305 

Federal income tax expense $   13,683 $   15,958 $    5,464 

Federal income tax expense consists of the following:
2004 2003 2002

Taxes (credits) on pre-tax income:
   Current $   14,624 $   16,701 $   8,139 
   Deferred (941) (743) (2,675)

$   13,683 $   15,958 $   5,464 

The components of the provision for deferred federal income taxes (credits) are as follows:

2004 2003 2002
Discounts of loss and loss expense reserves $   (2,336) $   (1,179) $     (256)
Other than temporary investment declines 435  514   (1,804)
Limited partnerships 97 (44) (351)
Unearned premium disallowance 255 (557) (354)
Deferred compensation 882 (41) (28)
Other (274) 564 118 

   Provision for deferred federal income tax $     (941) $     (743) $   (2,675)

Note E - Reinsurance
The insurance subsidiaries cede portions of their gross premiums written to certain other insurers under excess and quota share treaties 
and by facultative placements.  Risks are reinsured with other companies to permit the recovery of a portion of related direct losses.  
The Company also serves as an assuming reinsurer under retrocessions from certain other reinsurers.  These retrocessions include 
individual risks but are comprised primarily of high layer catastrophe treaties.  Accordingly, the occurrence of a major catastrophic 
event can have a significant impact on the Company's operations.  In addition, the insurance subsidiaries participate in certain in-
voluntary reinsurance pools which require insurance companies to provide coverages on assigned risks.  The assigned risk pools 
allocate participation to all insurers based upon each insurer’s portion of premium writings on a state or national level.  Historically, 
the operation of these assigned risk pools have resulted in net losses allocated to the Company although such losses have generally 
not been material in relation to the Company’s direct and voluntary assumed operations.

Detail with respect to direct premiums and premiums assumed from and ceded to other insurers and reinsurers is as follows:

Premiums Written Premiums Earned
2004 2003 2002 2004 2003 2002

Direct $   237,130 $   215,576 $  164,662 $   240,111 $   208,282 $  160,035 
Assumed 9,969 12,038 8,632 10,559 11,547 8,147 
Ceded (78,596)  (73,501)  (63,841)  (78,525)  (73,676)  (63,790)

Net $   168,503 $   154,113 $    109,453 $   172,145 $   146,153 $  104,392 



attributable to the process of accounting for “other than temporary impairment” in the investment portfolio.  The 
net gain includes $2.4 million representing subsequent appreciation on previously written down securities disposed 
of during 2004 offset by additional write downs during the year.  See the Investment Valuation section under the 
caption Critical Accounting Policies and Note B to the consolidated financial statements for further information 
with respect to the other than temporary impairment adjustment process.

Losses and loss expenses incurred during 2004 increased $30.6 million (32%) to $126.3 million.  The increase 
in losses incurred is reflective of the 18% increase in net premiums earned, and primarily the 24% increase in 
premiums from trucking-related products, as previously discussed, and from $5.0 million of losses attributable to 

the Florida hurricanes during September, 2004.  
The 2004 consolidated loss and loss expense 
ratio was 73.4% compared to 65.5% for 2003.  
The Company's loss and loss expense ratios for 
individual product lines are summarized in the 
table insert.  The loss and loss expense ratio  
for fleet trucking products for 2004 reflects an 
increase in severity of accidents, particularly 
in the large fleet excess product.  While overall 
frequency in the trucking lines has not increased 
significantly, the frequency of severe losses was 

higher in 2004.  Part of the increase in severity is attributable to social inflation factors which result in higher jury 
awards and settlements on serious accidents.  The Company’s higher retention under recent reinsurance treaty 
renewals also allows for more net volatility in this line of business.  The loss and loss expense ratio for reinsurance 
assumed increased by 8 percentage points, and relates primarily to hurricane losses in 2004.  The small business 
workers' compensation program continued to perform poorly.  This continued unsatisfactory performance prompted 
management to discontinue this product in the current year fourth quarter.

The Company produced an overall savings on the handling of prior year claims during 2004 of $15.0 million.  
This net savings is included in the computation of loss ratios shown in the table insert.  Because of the high limits 
provided by the Company to its large trucking fleet insureds, the length of time required to settle larger, more 
complex claims and the volatility of the trucking liability insurance business, the Company believes it is important 
to have a high degree of conservatism in its reserving process.  As claims are settled in years subsequent to their 
occurrence, the Company's claim handling process has, historically, tended to produce savings from the reserves 
provided.  The Company believes that favorable loss developments are attributable to the Company's long-stand-
ing policy of reserving for losses realistically and a willingness to settle claims based upon a seasoned evaluation 
of its exposures.  Changes in both gross premium volumes and the Company's reinsurance structure for its large 
trucking fleets can have a significant impact on future loss developments and, as a result, loss and loss expense 
ratios and prior year reserve development may not be consistent year to year.

Other operating expenses for 2004, before credits for allowances from reinsurers, increased $.9 million (2%) to 
$51.5 million.  Gross expenses increased at a lower rate than the increase in premium volume because much of 
the Company’s expense structure is fixed and does not vary directly with volume.  In general, only commissions 
to independent agents, premium taxes and other acquisition costs vary directly with premium volume.  Direct 
commission expense increased $.8 million (7%) due to growth in business produced by outside agents.  Resulting 
primarily from the increase in premium earned, taxes other than federal income and salary-related taxes increased 
$.7 million (12%) from 2003,  Most other expense categories were level or down from the prior year as the invest-
ment in automation during the past several years has allowed for the handling of higher premium volume without 
the addition of employees.  

Reinsurance ceded credits were $.4 million (2%) higher in 2004, in line with higher reinsurance ceded premiums.  
While the dollars of reinsurance ceded credits were higher this year, the ratio of reinsurance ceded credits to gross 
acquisition costs declined because Protective is retaining a greater percentage of the gross premium for its own 
account under recent reinsurance treaties.

Loss and loss expense ratios:
2004 2003

Fleet trucking 79.3% 68.6%
Private passenger automobile 58.7   60.2   
Small fleet trucking 63.5   64.0   
Voluntary reinsurance assumed 59.8   51.6   
Small business workers’ compensation 92.2   91.4   
All lines 73.4   65.5   
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Note D - Income Taxes
Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for 
financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes.  Significant components of the Company's deferred tax 
assets and liabilities as of December 31 are as follows:

2004 2003
Deferred tax liabilities:
   Unrealized gain on investments $  23,960 $  24,143 
   Deferred acquisition costs 1,693 1,868 
   Salvage and subrogation 875 840 
   Other 102 195 
      Total deferred tax liabilities 26,630 27,046 

Deferred tax assets:
   Discounts of loss and loss expense reserves 7,828 5,523 
   Other than temporary investment declines 1,583 2,018 
   Deferred compensation 1,577 2,460 
   Unearned premiums 2,314 2,569 
   Other 1,251 1,276 
      Total deferred tax assets 14,553 13,846 

      Net deferred tax liabilities $  12,077 $  13,200 

Note C - Loss and Loss Expense Reserves (contuned)
Development during 2004 and 2002 also included decreases in reinsurance assumed loss and loss expense reserves at December 
31, 2003 and 2001 of $2,412 and $1,305, respectively.  Development during 2003 included an increase in reinsurance assumed 
loss reserves at December 31, 2002 of $799.  Favorable loss development is influenced by the Company's long-standing policy of 
reserving for losses realistically and a willingness to settle claims based upon a seasoned evaluation of its exposures.  Under terms 
of reinsurance agreements effective June 1, 1998, the Company's exposure on large fleet trucking losses dropped from $1,000 to 
$100 per occurrence.  Effective in June of each year 2001 through 2004, terms of replacement reinsurance agreements increased the 
Company's maximum exposure on large fleet trucking losses to $1,020, $1,400, $1,625 and $2,000, respectively, per occurrence.  The 
excess of loss treaty renewed in June, 2004 includes an aggregate deductible that must be exceeded before the Company can recover 
under the terms of the treaty.  The Company retains a higher percentage of the direct premium in consideration of this deductible 
provision.  2004 net premium earned and losses incurred each include $2,278 relative to this deductible provision.  The increased 
net retention per occurrence is reflected in the increase in the dollar amount of favorable development during 2004.  These trends 
were considered in the establishment of the Company's reserves at December 31, 2004.

The Company has not changed its original estimate for the loss sustained as a result of the terrorist attacks of September 11, 2001.  
Therefore, there is no impact on the loss developments shown in the above table except for payments against the original established 
reserves.  The Company has paid $10.9 million to date and carries a remaining reserve of $9.1 million at December 31, 2004.

The Company participates in mandatory residual market pools in various states.  The Company records the results from participation 
in these pools as the information is reported to the Company and also records an additional provision in the financial statements for 
operating periods unreported by the pools.  

Loss reserves on certain permanent total disability workers’ compensation reserves have been discounted to present value at pre-tax 
rates not exceeding 3.5%.  At December 31, 2004 and 2003, loss reserves have been reduced by approximately $3,932 and $5,549, 
respectively.  Discounting is applied to these claims since the amount of periodic payments to be made during the lifetime of claim-
ants is fixed and determinable.

Loss reserves have been reduced by estimated salvage and subrogation recoverable of approximately $3,462 and $3,490 at December 
31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL 
CONDITION AND THE RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (CONTINUED)

2003 Compared to 2002

Direct premiums written for 2003 totaled $215.6 million, an increase of $50.9 million (31%) from 2002.  This 
increase is primarily attributable to increases in fleet trucking liability and private passenger automobile programs 
of $32.6 million (43%) and $6.9 million (19%), respectively, from 2002 levels.  Direct premium writings from 
the Company's small trucking fleet, independent contractor and small business workers' compensation programs 
also increased by $4.6 million (43%), $3.5 million (10%) and $3.3 million (53%), respectively.  Large trucking 
fleet volume increased primarily from the addition of new accounts during 2003 and the fact that a full year of 
premiums was recorded for the new accounts added in 2002.  Increased revenues from renewal accounts and, to 
a lesser degree, premium rate increases also contributed to the increase in large fleet trucking liability premiums 
during 2003.  The higher premium volume from the independent contractor program resulted from the addition of 
contractors by existing accounts.  Increased premium volume from the Sagamore personal automobile and com-
mercial divisions came largely from existing market areas resulting from improving market conditions and, to a 
lesser extent, from geographic expansion.

Premiums assumed from other insurers and reinsurers totaled $11.1 million during 2003, an increase of $3.0 million 
(37%) from 2002.  Improved pricing in this market allowed the Company to increase its participation in existing 
treaties and, to a lesser extent, add new treaties during 2003.  Premium volume for this division is limited by the 
Company’s self-imposed limitation to loss from a single catastrophic event.  Further, the Company’s participation 
in reinsurance assumed in the future will be restricted should pricing become less favorable.

Premiums ceded to reinsurers increased $9.7 million (15%) during 2003 to $73.5 million.  The consolidated percent-
age of premiums ceded to direct premiums written decreased to 34% for 2003 from 39% for 2002.  This decrease 
is reflective of the Company's increased exposure under reinsurance treaties effective in 2002 and 2003 covering 
large fleet trucking risks.  The Company's maximum retained loss under these treaties has increased over the last 
two years and, as a result, a lower percentage of the direct premiums are ceded to reinsurers.

After giving effect to changes in unearned premiums, net premiums earned increased 40% to $146.2 million for 
2003 from $104.4 million for 2002.  Excluding inter-company reinsurance arrangements, net premiums earned 
from all trucking-related insurance products increased by $29.3 million (48%).  Net premiums earned from the 
Company's private passenger automobile, non-affiliated reinsurance assumed and small business workers' compen-
sation programs also increased $6.4 million (20%), $3.0 million (39%) and $2.6 million (76%), respectively.  

Net investment income decreased $2.1 million (14%) during 2003 reflecting lower overall pre-tax yields while 
average invested assets increased 6%.  The average pre-tax yield on invested assets dropped to 3.3% in 2003 from 
4.1% during 2002 (18%).  The largest decline in yields occurred in the bond portfolio which averaged 3.9% dur-

Substantially all fleet trucking business is produced by direct sales efforts of Baldwin & Lyons, Inc. employees 
and, accordingly, this business does not incur commission expense on a consolidated basis.  Instead, the expenses 
of the agency operations, including salaries and bonuses of salesmen, travel expenses, etc. are included in operat-
ing expenses.  In general, commissions paid by the insurance subsidiaries to the parent company exceed related 
acquisition costs incurred in the production of fleet trucking business.  The ratio of net operating expenses of the 
insurance subsidiaries to net premiums earned was 24.0% during 2004 compared to 26.5% for 2003.  Including 
the agency operations, and after elimination of inter-company commissions, the ratio of other operating expenses 
to operating revenue (defined as total revenue less realized gains on investments) was 16.2% for 2004 compared 
with 18.4% for 2003, and reflects the fixed nature of certain of the Company's expenses, as discussed above.

The effective federal tax rate for consolidated operations for 2004 was 31.1%.  This rate is lower than the statutory 
rate primarily because of tax-exempt investment income.

As a result of the factors mentioned above, net income for 2004 was $30.3 million compared to $33.1 million for 
2003.  Diluted earnings per share decreased to $2.05 in 2004 from $2.25 in 2003.  Earnings per share from opera-
tions, before realized gains or losses on investments, was $1.62 in 2004 compared to $1.81 in 2003.

Substantially all of the Company’s fixed income portfolio is managed by ABN AMRO Asset Management (ABN).  A director of 
the Company is an executive officer of ABN.  Management fees paid to ABN were $379, $366 and $348 during 2004, 2003 and 
2002, respectively.  The Company also has holdings in money market accounts which are managed by or purchased through ABN.

For the three years ended December 31, 2004. the Company executed 23% of total purchases and 41% of total sales of securities 
through broker-dealers in which certain directors of the Company are or were officers, directors or owners.  Commission rates 
charged by these affiliated broker-dealers to the Company were commensurate with rates charged to non-affiliated customers.  In 
addition, at December 31, 2004, the Company has invested approximately $11,146 in certain limited partnerships which are man-
aged by organizations in which certain directors of the Company are officers, directors, general partners or owners.  Certain of 
these investments contain profit sharing provisions to the affiliated organizations.  Total fees and profit sharing earned by affiliated 
investment advisors, other than ABN, were $480, $2,529 and $181 in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

The reserves for losses and loss expenses, net of related reinsurance recoverables, at December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 were de-
creased by $14,956, $13,586 and $10,008, respectively, for claims that had occurred on or prior to those dates.  These decreases are 
the result of the settlement of claims at amounts lower than previously reserved and changes in estimates of losses incurred but not 
reported as part of the normal reserving process.  Included in the above developments during 2004, 2003 and 2002, are decreases of 
$656, $1,659 and $1,539, respectively, in reserves outstanding at December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 for losses and loss expenses 
related to environmental damage claims.  Reserves for incurred but not reported environmental losses were $2,000 and $2,500 at 
December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.  

Year Ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002

Reserves at the beginning of the year $ 163,699 $ 144,702 $ 137,733 

Provision for losses and loss expenses:
   Claims occurring during the current year 141,254 109,324 78,115 
   Claims occurring during prior years (14,956) (13,586) (10,008)
      Total incurred 126,298 95,738 68,107 

Loss and loss expense payments:
   Claims occurring during the current year 43,351 37,625 30,997 
   Claims occurring during prior years 38,234 39,956 30,249 
      Total paid 81,585 77,581 61,246 

Change in allowance for uncollectible
    amounts due from reinsurers 374 840 108 
Reserves at the end of the year 208,786 163,699 144,702 

Reinsurance recoverable on reserves at the end of the year 233,035 180,025 133,042 
Reserves, gross of reinsurance

    recoverables, at the end of the year $ 441,821 $ 343,724 $ 277,744 

Note B - Investments (continued)
Major categories of investment income for the years ended December 31 are summarized as follows:

2004 2003 2002
Fixed maturities $   10,231 $   11,275 $   12,744 
Equity securities 2,443 2,367 2,813 
Money market funds 540 354 663 
Short-term and other 493 311 207 

13,707 14,307 16,427 
Investment expenses (1,420) (1,434) (1,463)

Net investment income $   12,287 $   12,873 $   14,964 

Note C - Loss and Loss Expense Reserves
Activity in the reserves for losses and loss expenses is summarized as follows.  All amounts are shown net of reinsurance recover-
able.
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ing 2003 compared to 5.1% in 2002.  Yields on short-term investments also declined from 1.4% in 2002 to .8% 
in 2003.  After tax yields declined less than pre-tax because of a reallocation of the investment portfolio whereby 
corporate (fully taxable) bonds were replaced with municipal (largely tax exempt) bonds.  After-tax yields were 
2.4% and 2.9% for 2003 and 2002, respectively. 

Realized net capital gains were $10.0 million in 2003 compared to losses of $16.4 million for 2002.  The current 
year’s net gain consisted of gains on equity securities of $9.3 million, gains on fixed maturities of $.5 million, and 
gains on other investments of $.2 million.  The gains on equity securities include approximately $3.9 million of 
gains realized by disposal of securities whose recorded value had previously been written down due to other than 
temporary impairment concerns.  Partially offsetting the effect of other than temporary impairment adjustments 
on securities sold was $2.4 million in unrealized losses on fixed maturity securities still owned which experienced 
a decline in market value of more than 20% for more than six months and, accordingly, were reclassified as real-
ized losses during 2003.  The gains realized during 2003 reflect the improvement in the equity markets, in general, 
particularly in the last quarter.

Losses and loss expenses incurred during 2003 increased $27.6 million (41%) to $95.7 million.  The increase in 
losses incurred is reflective of the 40% increase in net premiums earned, as previously discussed.  The 2003 consoli-
dated loss and loss expense ratio was 65.5% compared to 65.2% for 2002.  The loss and loss expense ratios for the 
Company's fleet trucking and private passenger automobile programs were fairly consistent with that experienced 
in 2002.  Small fleet trucking experienced a 14 percentage point increase in its loss and loss expense ratio due to 
the increased frequency and severity of reported claims while the loss and loss expense ratio for reinsurance as-
sumed dropped by 10 percentage points, reflecting the lack of major catastrophe activity affecting treaties in which 
the Company participates.  The loss and loss expense ratio for the small business workers' compensation program 
increased to 91.4% in 2003 from 54.7% in 2002.  This significant increase is due to approximately $.7 million in 
adjustments to prior year losses resulting from internal management review of the reserving methodologies for 
this product as well as increased frequency and severity of 2003 losses.

Including the deficiency noted above for the small business workers' compensation product, the Company produced 
an overall savings on the handling of prior year claims during 2003 of $13.6 million.  See comments regarding 
prior year reserve savings in the comparison of 2004 to 2003.

Other operating expenses for 2003, before credits for allowances from reinsurers, increased $10.8 million (27%) 
to $50.6 million.  Gross expenses increased at a lower rate than the increase in premium volume because much 
of the Company’s expense structure is fixed and does not vary directly with volume.  Personnel related expenses, 
including amounts allocated to loss expenses and investment income, increased 26% due mainly to employee 
incentives based upon Company performance in addition to a 7% increase in the number of employees during 
2003.  Direct commission expense increased $2.9 million (33%) due to growth in all of the Company's business 
produced by outside agents and as the result of increased participation in voluntary reinsurance assumed treaties.  
Ceding commission allowances from reinsurers increased $2.5 million (14%), resulting from increased premium 
volume ceded under reinsurance agreements covering Protective's fleet trucking business.  The ratio of net operat-
ing expenses of the insurance subsidiaries to net premiums earned was 26.5% during 2003 compared to 26.1% 
for 2002.  Including the agency operations, and after elimination of inter-company commissions, the ratio of other 
operating expenses to operating revenue was 18.4% for 2003 compared with 17.8% for 2002, with the increase 
primarily attributable to the lower ratio of ceding commission income to gross acquisition costs, as less of the 
gross premium is ceded to reinsurers.

The effective federal tax rate for consolidated operations for 2003 was 32.5%.  This rate is lower than the statutory 
rate primarily because of tax-exempt investment income.

As a result of the factors mentioned above, net income for 2003 was $33.1 million compared to $12.4 million for 
2002.  Diluted earnings per share increased to $2.25 in 2003 from $.84 in 2002.  Earnings per share from opera-
tions before realized gains or losses on investments was $1.81 in 2003 compared to $1.57 in 2002.

The fair value and the cost or amortized cost of fixed maturity investments at December 31, 2004, by contractual maturity, are shown 
below.  Actual maturities may differ from contractual maturities because borrowers have, in some cases, the right to call or prepay 
obligations with or without call or prepayment penalties.

Note B - Investments (continued)
Gross realized gains and losses on investments for the years ended December 31 are summarized below:

2004 2003 2002
Fixed maturities:
   Gains $    2,214 $     1,122 $       1,396 
   Losses (364) (584) (3,278)
      Net gains (losses) 1,850 538 (1,882)

Equity securities:
   Gains 10,534 15,754 5,774 
   Losses (1,994) (6,502) (19,520)
      Net gains (losses) 8,540 9,252 (13,746)

Short-term and other - net gain (loss) (620) 200 (817)

      Total net gains (losses) $    9,770 $   9,990 ($    16,445)

Fair Value

Cost or 
Amoritzed 

Cost

One year or less $ 146,408 $ 145,759 
Excess of one year to five years 150,431 149,446 
Excess of five years to ten years 6,138 6,117 
Excess of ten years 8,814 8,713 
   Total maturities 311,791 310,035 
Mortgage-backed securities 16,505 16,559 
Redeemable preferred stock 2,985 2,936 

$ 331,281 $ 329,530 

2004 2003 2002

Cumulative writedowns at the beginning of the year $   5,765 $   7,234 $   2,081 

Writedowns based on objective criteria 1,143 2,394 6,675 

Recovery of prior writedowns upon sale or disposal (2,385) (3,863) (1,522)

Cumulative writedowns at the end of the year $   4,523 $   5,765 $   7,234 

Net pre-tax realized gain (loss) $   1,242 $   1,469 ($   5,153)

Addition (reduction) to earnings per share $       .05 $       .06 $     (.28)

Unrealized gain on investments previously
   written down at end of the year - see note below $   4,201 $   4,319 $          9 

Activity with respect to other than temporary impairment of investments for the years ended December 31 is summarized as 
follows:

Note:  Recovery in market value of an investment which has been adjusted for other than temporary impairment by inclusion in realized 
losses in the income statement  is treated as an unrealized gain until the investment is disposed of.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL 
CONDITION AND THE RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (CONTINUED)

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The Company’s significant accounting policies are discussed in Note A to the consolidated financial statements.  
The following discussion is provided to highlight areas of the Company’s accounting policies which are both 
material and subject to significant degrees of estimation.

Investment Valuation

All marketable securities are included in the Company’s balance sheet at current fair market value.

Approximately 67% of the Company’s assets are composed of investments at December 31, 2004.  Approximately 
3% of these investments, consisting of limited partnership investments in equity trading and hedge funds, real 
estate development ventures and venture capital funds, do not have readily determinable market values.  For these 
investments, we estimate fair value by reference to the underlying assets of the limited partnerships.  In addition, 
approximately $16.9 million of fixed maturity investments (3% of total invested assets) consists of bonds rated 
as less than investment grade at year end.  The majority of this total is composed of shares in a widely diversified 
high yield municipal bond fund where exposure to default by any single issuer is extremely limited.  Further, the 
average bond quality of assets held in this fund at year end was BBB, which would be considered investment grade.  
We have included the investment in this fund in the total of non-investment grade bonds since, under the terms of 
the fund, the average bond quality could fall below BBB.  

In determining if and when a decline in market value below cost is other than temporary, we first make an objec-
tive analysis of each individual security where current market value is less than cost.   For any security where the 
unrealized loss exceeds 20% of original or adjusted cost, and where that decline has existed for a period of at least 
six months, the decline is treated as an other than temporary impairment, without any subjective evaluation as to 
possible future recovery.  The only exception exists where substantial recovery to cost has actually occurred prior 
to the issuance of the financial statements.  For individual issues where the decline in value is less than 20% but 
the amount of the decline is considered significant, a similar objective evaluation is conducted but, in these cases, 
we will also evaluate the market conditions, trends of earnings, price multiples and other key measures for the 
securities to determine if it appears that the decline is other than temporary.  For any decline which is considered 
to be other than temporary, we recognize an impairment loss in the current period operating results as an addition 
to realized capital losses.  Declines which are considered to be temporary are recorded as a reduction in sharehold-
ers’ equity, net of related federal income tax credits.

It is important to note that all investments included in the Company’s financial statements are valued at current 
fair market values.  The evaluation process for determination of other than temporary decline in value of invest-
ments does not change these valuations but, rather, determines when the decline in value will be recognized in 
the income statement (other than temporary decline) as opposed to a charge to shareholders’ equity (temporary 
decline).  Subsequent recoveries in value of investments which have incurred an other than temporary impairment 
adjustment are accounted for as unrealized gains until the security is actually disposed of or sold.  At December 
31, 2004, unrealized gains include $4.2 million of appreciation on investments previously adjusted for “other than 
temporary” impairment, compared to a $4.5 million impairment allowance at that date.  See Note B to the con-
solidated financial statements for additional detail with respect to this process.  This evaluation process is subject 
to risks and uncertainties since it is not always clear what has caused a decline in value of an individual security 
or since some declines may be associated with general market conditions or economic factors which relate to an 
industry, in general, but not necessarily to an individual issue.  The Company has attempted to minimize many of 
these uncertainties by adopting a largely objective evaluation process which results in automatic income statement 
recognition of any investment which, over a six month period, is unable to recover from a 20% decline in value 
from our cost basis.  However, to the extent that certain declines in value are reported as unrealized at December 
31, 2004, it is possible that future earnings charges will result should the declines in value increase or persist or 
should the security actually be disposed of while market values are less than cost.  At December 31, 2004, the total 
gross unrealized loss included in the Company’s investment portfolio was less than $1.8 million.  No individual 
issue constituted a material amount of this total.  Had this entire amount been considered other than temporary 
at December 31, 2004, realized capital gains would have decreased by $.08 per share for the year.  There would, 

Note A - Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Federal Income Taxes:  A consolidated federal income tax return is filed by the Company and includes all wholly owned subsidiaries.

Stock-based Compensation:  The Company uses the "fair value method" to account for options granted to employees and non-em-
ployee directors in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, Stock-Based Compensation, as amended 
by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation - Transition and Disclosure.

Earnings Per Share:  Diluted earnings per share of common stock are based on the average number of shares of Class A and Class 
B common stock outstanding during the year, adjusted for the effect, if any, of options outstanding.  Basic earnings per share are 
presented exclusive of the effect of options outstanding.  See note H.

Comprehensive Income:  The Company records accumulated other comprehensive income from unrealized gains and losses on 
available-for-sale securities as a separate component of shareholders’ equity.  Foreign exchange adjustments are not material and the 
Company has no defined benefit pension plan.  

The enclosed Statement of Changes in Equity Other Than Capital refers to comprehensive income as Total realized and unrealized 
income.  Items of other comprehensive income included in this statement are referred to as Change in unrealized gains (losses) on 
investments and Foreign exchange adjustment.  A reclassification adjustment to other comprehensive income is made for Gains real-
ized during period included in net income.

Reclassification:  Certain prior year balances have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation.  All share amounts 
have been restated for the five-for-four stock split declared in February, 2003.

The securities in an unrealized loss position are not significant.

Note B - Investments
The following is a summary of available-for-sale securities at December 31:

Fair
Value

Cost or
Amortized

Cost

Gross
Unrealized

Gains

Gross
Unrealized

Losses

Net
Unrealized

Gains

2004:
   U. S. government obligations $ 119,469 $ 119,529 $         393 $      (453) $        (60)
   Mortgage-backed securities 16,505 16,559 126 (180) (54)
   Obligations of states and political subdivisions 141,436 140,908 898 (370) 528 
   Corporate securities 46,962 45,799 1,350 (187) 1,163 
   Foreign government obligations 6,909 6,735 174 - 174 
      Total fixed maturities 331,281 329,530 2,941 (1,190) 1,751 
   Equity securities 133,042 66,320 67,302 (580) 66,722 
   Short-term and other 52,395 52,411 - (16) (16)
      Total available-for-sale securities $ 516,718 $ 448,261 $    70,243 $   (1,786) 68,457 

Applicable federal income taxes (23,960)

Net unrealized gains - net of tax $   44,497 
2003:
   U. S. government obligations $ 119,758 $ 118,267 $      1,511 $        (20) $     1,491 
   Mortgage-backed securities 19,198 19,139 168 (109) 59 
   Obligations of states and political subdivisions 104,237 102,865 1,398 (26) 1,372 
   Corporate securities 71,601 67,512 4,161 (72) 4,089 
   Foreign government obligations 6,399 6,295 104 - 104 
      Total fixed maturities 321,193 314,078 7,342 (227) 7,115 
   Equity securities 130,139 67,929 62,805 (595) 62,210 
   Short-term and other 36,545 36,890 - (345) (345)
      Total available-for-sale securities $ 487,877 $ 418,897 $    70,147 $   (1,167) 68,980 

Applicable federal income taxes (24,143)

Net unrealized gains - net of tax $   44,837 
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however, have been no impact on total shareholders equity or book value per share since the decline in value of 
these securities was already recognized as a reduction to shareholders equity at December 31, 2004.

Reinsurance Recoverable

Amounts recoverable under the terms of reinsurance contracts comprise approximately 27% of total Company 
assets as of December 31, 2004.  In order to be able to provide the high limits required by the Company’s trucking 
company insureds, we share a significant amount of the insurance risk of the underlying contracts with various 
insurance entities through the use of reinsurance contracts.  Some reinsurance contracts provide that a loss be shared 
among the Company and its reinsurers on a predetermined pro-rata basis (“quota-share”) while other contracts 
provide that the Company keep a fixed amount of the loss, similar to a deductible, with reinsurers taking all losses 
above this fixed amount (“excess of loss”).  Some risks are covered by a combination of quota-share and excess of 
loss contracts.  The computation of amounts due from reinsurers is based upon the terms of the various contracts 
and follows the underlying estimation process for loss and loss expense reserves, as described below.  Accord-
ingly, the uncertainties inherent in the loss and loss expense reserving process also affect the amounts recorded 
as recoverable from reinsurers.  Estimation uncertainties are greatest for claims which have occurred but which 
have not yet been reported to the Company.  Further, the high limits provided by the Company’s insurance policies 
for trucking liability and workers’ compensation, provide more variability in the estimation process than lines of 
business with lower coverage limits.  

It should be noted, however, that a change in the estimate of amounts due from reinsurers on unpaid claims will not, 
in itself, result in charges or credits to losses incurred.  This is because any change in estimated recovery follows 
the estimate of the underlying loss.  Thus, it is the computation of the underlying loss that is critical.  

As with any receivable, credit risk exists in the recoverability of reinsurance.  This is even more pronounced than 
in normal receivable situations since recoverable amounts are not generally due until the loss is settled which, in 
some cases, may be many years after the contract was written.  If a reinsurer is unable, in the future, to meet its 
financial commitments under the terms of the contracts, the Company would be responsible for the reinsurer's 
portion of the loss.  The financial condition of each of the Company’s reinsurers is initially determined upon the 
execution of a given treaty and only reinsurers with the highest credit ratings available are utilized.  However, as 
noted above, reinsurers are often not called upon to satisfy their obligations for several years and changes in credit 
worthiness can occur in the interim period.  Reviews of the current financial strength of each reinsurer are made 
continually and, should impairment in the ability of a reinsurer be determined to exist, current year operations 
would be charged in amounts sufficient to provide for the Company’s additional liability.  Such charges are included 
in other operating expenses, rather than losses and loss expenses incurred, since the inability of the Company to 
collect from reinsurers is a credit risk rather than a deficiency associated with the loss reserving process.

Loss and Loss Expense Reserves

The Company’s reserves for losses and loss expenses (“reserves”) are determined based on complex estimation 
processes using historical experience, current economic information and, when necessary, available industry statis-
tics.  Reserves are evaluated in three basic categories (1) “case basis”, (2) “incurred but not reported” and (3) “loss 
adjustment expense” reserves.  Case basis reserves are established for specific known loss occurrences at amounts 
dependent upon various criteria such as type of coverage, severity and the underlying policy limits, as examples.  
Case basis reserves are generally estimated by experienced claims adjusters using established Company guidelines 
and are subject to review by claims management.  Incurred but not reported reserves, which are established for 
those losses which have occurred, but have not yet been reported to the Company, are not linked to specific claims 
but are computed on a “bulk” basis.  Common actuarial methods are used in the establishment of incurred but not 
reported loss reserves using company historical loss data, consideration of changes in the Company’s business and 
study of current economic trends affecting ultimate claims costs.  Loss adjustment expense reserves, or reserves 
for the costs associated with the investigation and settlement of a claim, are also bulk reserves representing the 
Company’s estimate of the costs associated with the claims handling process.  Loss adjustment expense reserves 
include amounts ultimately allocable to individual claims as well as amounts required for the general overhead of 
the claims handling operation that are not specifically allocable to individual claims.  Historical analyses of the 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Baldwin & Lyons, Inc. and Subsidiaries
(dollars in thousands, except per share data)

Note A - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation:  The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Baldwin & Lyons, Inc. and its wholly owned sub-
sidiaries ("the Company").  All significant intercompany transactions and accounts have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of estimates:  Preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes.  Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Cash and cash equivalents:  The Company considers investments in money market funds to be cash equivalents.  Carrying amounts for 
these instruments approximate their fair values.  

Investments:  Carrying amounts for fixed maturity securities (bonds, notes and redeemable preferred stocks) represent fair value and are 
based on quoted market prices, where available, or broker/dealer quotes for specific securities where quoted market prices are not available.  
Equity securities (non-redeemable preferred stocks and common stocks) are carried at quoted market prices (fair value).  Other investments 
are carried at either market value, cost or cost adjusted for operations of limited partnerships, depending on the nature of the investment.  
Put options used as a fair value hedge for a specific portion of the Company's equity security portfolio are included with other investments 
at market value.  All fixed maturity, equity and derivative securities are considered to be available for sale; the related unrealized net gains 
or losses (net of applicable tax effect) are reflected directly in shareholders’ equity unless a decline in value is determined to be other than 
temporary, in which case, the loss is charged to income.  In determining if and when a decline in market value below cost is other than 
temporary, an objective analysis is made of each individual security where current market value is less than cost.   For any security where 
the unrealized loss exceeds 20% of original or adjusted cost, and where that decline has existed for a period of at least six months, the 
decline is treated as an other than temporary impairment, without any subjective evaluation as to possible future recovery.  Although the 
Company has classified fixed maturity investments as available for sale, it has the ability to, and generally does, hold its fixed maturity 
investments to maturity.  Short-term investments are carried at cost which approximates their fair values.  Realized gains and losses on 
disposals of investments are determined by specific identification of cost of investments sold and are included in income.

Property and Equipment:  Property and equipment is carried at cost.  Depreciation is computed principally by the straight-line method.

Reserves for Losses and Loss Expenses:  The reserves for losses and loss expenses, minor portions of which are discounted, are deter-
mined using case basis evaluations and statistical analyses and represent estimates of the ultimate cost of all reported and unreported losses 
which are unpaid at year end.  These reserves include estimates of future trends in claim severity and frequency and other factors which 
could vary as the losses are ultimately settled.  Although it is not possible to measure the degree of variability inherent in such estimates, 
management believes that the reserves for losses and loss expenses are adequate.  The estimates are continually reviewed and as adjust-
ments to these reserves become necessary, such adjustments are reflected in current operations.

Recognition of Revenue and Costs:  Premiums are earned over the period for which insurance protection is provided.  A reserve for un-
earned premiums, computed by the daily pro-rata method, is established to reflect amounts applicable to subsequent accounting periods.  
Commissions to unaffiliated companies and premium taxes applicable to unearned premiums are deferred and expensed as the related 
premiums are earned.  The Company does not defer acquisition costs which are not directly variable with the production of premium and 
are not refundable in the event of policy cancellation.  If it is determined that expected losses and deferred expenses will exceed the related 
unearned premiums, the asset representing deferred policy acquisition costs is reduced and an expense is charged against current opera-
tions to reflect any such premium deficiency.  If the expected premium deficiency exceeds deferred policy acquisition costs, an additional 
liability is recorded with a corresponding expense to current operations for the amount of the excess premium deficiency.  Anticipated 
investment income is considered in determining recoverability of deferred acquisition costs.

Reinsurance:  Reinsurance premiums, commissions, expense reimbursements and reserves related to reinsured business are accounted for 
on bases consistent with those used in accounting for the original policies issued and the terms of the reinsurance contracts.  Premiums 
ceded to other insurers have been reported as a reduction of premium earned.  Amounts applicable to reinsurance ceded for unearned pre-
mium and claim loss reserves have been reported as reinsurance recoverable assets.  Certain reinsurance contracts provide for additional 
or return premiums and commissions based upon profits or losses to the reinsurer over prescribed periods.  Estimates of additional or 
return premiums and commissions are adjusted quarterly to recognize actual loss experience to date as well as projected loss experience 
applicable to the various contract periods.  Reinstatement premiums on reinsurance assumed contracts covering catastrophic events are 
recorded concurrently with the related loss.

Should impairment in the ability of a reinsurer to satisfy its obligations to the Company be determined to exist, current year operations 
would be charged in amounts sufficient to provide for the Company’s additional liability.  Such charges are included in other operating 
expenses, rather than losses and loss expenses incurred, since the inability of the Company to collect from reinsurers is a credit risk rather 
than a deficiency associated with the loss reserving process.



FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSIDERATIONS

The liability method is used in accounting for federal income taxes.  Using this method, deferred tax assets and 
liabilities are determined based on differences between financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities 
and are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the differences are expected to 
reverse.  The provision for deferred federal income tax was based on items of income and expense that were reported 
in different years in the financial statements and tax returns and were measured at the tax rate in effect in the year 
the difference originated.  Net deferred tax liabilities reported at December 31, 2004 and 2003 consisted of:
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL 
CONDITION AND THE RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (CONTINUED)

FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION

Any forward-looking statements in this report including, without limitation, statements relating to the Company’s 
plans, strategies, objectives, expectations, intentions and adequacy of resources, are made pursuant to the safe 
harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.  Investors are cautioned that such 
forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties including, without limitation, the following:  (i) the 
Company’s plans, strategies, objectives, expectations and intentions are subject to change at any time at the dis-
cretion of the Company;  (ii) the Company’s business is highly competitive and the entrance of new competitors 
into or the expansion of the operations by existing competitors in the Company’s markets and other changes in 
the market for insurance products could adversely affect the Company’s plans and results of operations; and (iii) 
other risks and uncertainties indicated from time to time in the Company’s filings with the Securities 
and Exchange Commission.

ratio of loss adjusting expenses to losses paid on prior closed claims and study of current economic trends affecting 
loss settlement costs are used to estimate the loss adjustment reserve needs related to the established loss reserves.  
Each of these reserve categories contain elements of uncertainty which assure variability when compared to the 
ultimate costs to settle the underlying claims for which the reserves are established.

The reserving process requires management to continuously monitor and evaluate the life cycle of claims based on 
the class of business and the nature of claims.  Our claims range from the very routine private passenger automobile 
“fender bender” to the highly complex and costly third party bodily injury claim involving large tractor-trailer 
rigs.  Reserving for each class of claims requires a set of assumptions based upon historical experience, knowledge 
of current industry trends and seasoned judgment.  The high limits provided in the Company’s trucking liability 
policies provide for greater variation in the reserving process for more serious claims.  Court rulings, tort reform 
(or lack thereof) and trends in jury awards also play a significant role in the estimation process of larger claims.  
The Company continuously reviews and evaluates loss developments subsequent to each measurement date and 
adjusts its reserve estimation assumptions, as necessary, in an effort to achieve the best possible estimate of the 
ultimate remaining loss costs at any point in time.  Changes to previously established reserve amounts are charged 
or credited to losses and loss expenses incurred in the accounting periods in which they are determined.  Note C to 
the consolidated financial statements includes additional information relating to loss and loss adjustment expense 
reserve development.

2004 2003
Total deferred tax liabilities $ 26,630 $ 27,046 
Total deferred tax assets  14,553  13,846 
Net deferred tax liabilities  $ 12,077  $ 13,200 

The total deferred tax assets at December 31, 2004 included $7,828 in special tax deposits covered under Section 
847 of the Internal Revenue Code, as explained in the following paragraph, which compares to $5,523 in special 
tax deposits at December 31, 2003.  Adjusted for the special deposits, net deferred tax assets at December 31, 2004 
were $6,725 compared with $8,322 million at December 31, 2003.  

Section 847 of the Internal Revenue Code created a mechanism which assures recoverability for the  deferred tax 
asset arising from the discounting of property and casualty loss reserves for tax purposes.  This provision allows 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Baldwin & Lyons, Inc. and Subsidiaries     
 

Year Ended December 31
2004 2003 2002

  (dollars in thousands)

Operating activities
   Net income $ 30,306 $ 33,075 $ 12,366 
   Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash
      provided by operating activities:
         Change in accounts receivable and unearned premium 211 4,275 (3,434)
         Change in accrued investment income 74 213 (185)
         Change in reinsurance recoverable on paid losses 2,073 779 (2,612)
         Change in loss and loss expense reserves net of reinsurance 45,087 17,439 6,969 
         Change in other assets, other liabilities and current income taxes (1,626) 7,252 7,046 
         Amortization of net policy acquisition costs (3,512) (4,431) (5,569)
         Net policy acquisition costs deferred 4,024 3,299 4,915 
         Provision for deferred income taxes (940) (743) (2,675)
         Bond amortization 3,722 2,802 1,482 
         Loss on sale of property 14 17 10 
         Depreciation 2,425 2,741 2,601 
         Net realized loss (gain) on investments (9,770) (9,990) 17,057 
         Compensation expense related to discounted stock options 256 143 134 

Net cash provided by operating activities 72,344  56,871  38,105 

Investing activities
   Purchases of fixed maturities and equity securities (186,900) (206,141) (172,806)
   Proceeds from maturities 95,136 85,429 51,978 
   Proceeds from sales of fixed maturities 17,279 34,492 32,000 
   Proceeds from sales of equity securities 56,684 61,764 53,112 
   Net sales (purchases) of short-term investments (5,967) (27,529) 19,814 
   Distributions from limited partnerships 637 63 632 
   Decrease (increase) in principal balance of 
      notes receivable from employees 2,223 2,676 (5,036)
   Purchases of property and equipment (1,580) (2,437) (1,989)
   Proceeds from disposals of property and equipment 111 130 161 

Net cash used in investing activities (22,377)  (51,553)  (22,134)

Financing activities
   Dividends paid to shareholders (30,074) (9,470) (4,636)
   Proceeds from sale of common stock 1,413 31 2
   Drawing on line of credit 6,000 - 10,000 
   Repayment on line of credit - (7,500) (2,500)
   Cost of treasury shares - - (8,978)

Net cash used in financing activities (22,661)  (16,939)  (6,112)
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 27,306  (11,621)  9,859 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 30,078 41,699 31,840 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 57,384 $ 30,078 $ 41,699 

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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MARKET RISK

The Company operates solely within the property and casualty insurance industry and, accordingly, has significant 
invested assets which are exposed to various market risks.  These market risks relate to interest rate fluctuations, 
equities market prices and, to a far lesser extent, foreign currency rate fluctuations.  All of the Company's invested 
assets are classified as available for sale and are listed as such in Note B to the consolidated financial statements.

The most significant of the three identified market risks relates to prices in the equities market.  Though not the 
largest category of the Company's invested assets, equity securities have the greatest potential for short-term price 
fluctuation.  The market value of the Company's equity positions at December 31, 2004 was $133.0 million or 
approximately 23% of invested assets.  This market valuation includes $66.7 million of appreciation over the cost 
basis of the equity security investments.  Funds invested in the equities market are not considered to be assets 
necessary for the Company to conduct its daily operations and, therefore, can be committed for extended periods 
of time.  The long-term nature of the Company's equity investments allows it to invest in positions where ultimate 
value, and not short-term market fluctuations, is the primary focus.

The Company's fixed maturity portfolio totaled $331.3 million at December 31, 2004.  Over 80% of this portfo-
lio is made up of U. S. Government and government agency obligations and state and municipal debt securities;  

IMPACT OF INFLATION

To the extent possible, the Company attempts to recover the costs of inflation by increasing the premiums it 
charges.  Within the fleet trucking business, a majority of the Company’s premiums are charged as a percentage 
of an insured’s gross revenue or payroll.  As these charging bases increase with inflation, premium revenues are 
immediately increased.  The remaining premium rates charged are adjustable only at periodic intervals and often 
require state regulatory approval.  Such periodic increases in premium rates may lag far behind cost increases.

To the extent inflation influences yields on investments, the Company is also affected.  The Company’s short-term 
and fixed investment portfolios are structured in direct response to available interest rates over the yield curve.  
As available market interest rates fluctuate in response to the presence or absence of inflation, the yields on the 
Company’s investments are impacted.  Further, as inflation affects current market rates of return, previously com-
mitted investments may rise or decline in value depending on the type and maturity of investment.  (See comments 
under Market Risk, following.)

Inflation must also be considered by the Company in the creation and review of loss and loss adjustment expense 
reserves since portions of these reserves are expected to be paid over extended periods of time.  The anticipated 
effect of inflation is implicitly considered when estimating liabilities for losses and loss adjustment expenses.

an insurer to take a special tax deduction equal to the discount on post 1986 accident year loss and loss expense 
reserves while making “special estimated tax payments” equal to the amount of the tax benefit derived from the 
special deduction.  The “special estimated tax payments” can be carried forward for fifteen years to offset taxes 
arising from decreases in the special deduction and can be treated as regular estimated payments or refunded at 
the end of the carryforward period.  Because the recovery of this deferred tax asset is guaranteed, it need not be 
considered when determining the recoverability of deferred tax assets.  

Of the remaining deferred tax assets at December 31, 2004, approximately $3,115 relate to other policy liability 
discounts required by the Internal Revenue Code which are perpetual in nature and, in the absence of the termi-
nation of business, will not reverse to a material degree in the foreseeable future.  An additional $1,583 relates 
to impairment adjustments made to investments, as required by accounting regulations.  The sizable unrealized 
gains in the Company’s investment portfolios would allow for the recovery of this deferred tax at any time.  The 
balance of deferred tax assets, approximately $2,027, consists of various normal operating expense accruals and 
is not considered to be material. As a result of its analysis, management does not believe that any of these assets 
are impaired at December 31, 2004.

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity Other Than Capital
Baldwin & Lyons, Inc. and Subsidiaries

2004 2003 2002

(dollars in thousands)

Balances at beginning of year:
    Retained earnings $  243,695  $  219,079 $  219,067 

    Unrealized gains on investments 44,837 29,640 32,377 

288,532 248,719 251,444 

Changes arising from income-producing activities:
    Net income 30,306 33,075 12,366 

    Gains (losses) on investments:

        Holding gains (losses) arising during period,

            before federal income taxes 9,246 33,371 (20,656)

        Federal income taxes (benefit) 3,236 11,680 (7,230)

6,010 21,691 (13,426)

        (Gains) losses realized during period included in net income,

            before federal income taxes (9,770) (9,990) 16,445 

        Federal income taxes (benefit) (3,420) (3,496) 5,756 

(6,350) (6,494) 10,689 

        Change in unrealized gains on investments (340)  15,197  (2,737)

    Foreign exchange adjustment 413 1,011 77 

Total realized and unrealized income 30,379  49,283  9,706 

Other changes affecting retained earnings:
    Cash dividends paid to shareholders (30,074) (9,470) (4,636)

    Cost of treasury shares in excess of original issue proceeds -  -  (7,795)

(30,074) (9,470) (12,431)

Total changes 305 39,813 (2,725)

Balances at end of year:
    Retained earnings 244,340  243,695 219,079 

    Unrealized gains on investments 44,497 44,837 29,640 

$  288,837 $  288,532 $  248,719 
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COMMON STOCK MARKET PRICES AND DIVIDENDS

The Company’s Class A and Class B common stocks are traded on The NASDAQ Stock Market under the 
symbols BWINA and BWINB, respectively.  The Class A and Class B common shares have identical rights and 
privileges except that Class B shares have no voting rights other than on matters for which Indiana law requires 
class voting.  As of December 31, 2004, there were approximately 400 record holders of Class A Common Stock 
and approximately 1000 record holders of Class B Common Stock.

The table above sets forth the range of high and low sale prices for the Class A and Class B Common Stock for 
2004 and 2003, as reported by the National Association of Security Dealers, Inc. and published in the financial 

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL 
CONDITION AND THE RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (CONTINUED)

Cash
Class A Class B Dividends

High Low High Low Declared
Year ended December 31:
2004:
Fourth Quarter $28.24 $24.30 $29.15 $24.52 $1.00 
Third Quarter 29.23 23.75 26.85 23.10   .15 
Second Quarter 29.75 22.75 30.68 22.20   .40 
First Quarter 29.15 22.37 30.00 25.00   .50 

2003:
Fourth Quarter 23.48 22.00 29.45 23.37   .35 
Third Quarter 23.95 20.75 26.51 21.50   .10 
Second Quarter 25.00 18.02 26.48 19.49   .10 
First Quarter 19.85 18.26 20.75 17.83   .10 

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statements of Income
Baldwin & Lyons, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Year Ended December 31

2004 2003 2002

(dollars in thousands, except per share data)

Revenue:    

    Net premiums earned $   172,145  $   146,153  $   104,392 

    Net investment income    12,287    12,873    14,964 

    Realized net gains (losses) on investments    9,770    9,990 (16,445)

    Commissions, service fees and other income    7,131    6,232    5,219 

201,333 175,248 108,130 

Expenses:

    Losses and loss expenses incurred    126,298    95,738    68,107 

    Other operating expenses    31,046    30,477    22,193 

157,344  126,215  90,300 

Income before federal income taxes 43,989  49,033  17,830 

Federal income taxes    13,683    15,958    5,464 

Net income $     30,306 $     33,075 $     12,366 

Per share data:

Diluted earnings:

    Income before realized net gains (losses) $     1.62 $     1.81 $    1.57 

    Realized net gains (losses) on investments .43 .44 ( .73)  

Net income $     2.05 $     2.25 $      .84 

Basic earnings:

    Income before realized net gains (losses) $     1.64 $     1.82 $    1.58 

    Realized net gains (losses) on investments .43 .45 ( .73)

Net income $     2.07 $     2.27 $      .85 

Dividends $     2.05 $       .65 $      .32 

85% of the portfolio matures within 5 years; and the average life of the Company's fixed maturity investments is 
approximately 2.2 years.  Although the Company is exposed to interest rate risk on its fixed maturity investments, 
given the anticipated duration of the Company's liabilities (principally insurance loss and loss expense reserves) 
relative to investment maturities, even a 100 to 200 basis point increase in interest rates would not have a significant 
impact on the Company's ability to conduct daily operations or to meet its obligations.  

There is an inverse relationship between interest rate fluctuations and the fair value of the Company's fixed matu-
rity investments.  Additionally, the fair value of interest rate sensitive instruments may be affected by the financial 
strength of the issuer, prepayment options, relative values of alternative investments, liquidity of the investment 
and other general market conditions.  The Company monitors its sensitivity to interest rate risk by measuring the 
change in fair value of its fixed maturity investments relative to hypothetical changes in interest rates.  As previously 
indicated, several other factors can impact the fair values of fixed maturity investments and, therefore, significant 
variations in market interest rates could produce quite different results from the hypothetical estimates presented 
in the next paragraph.  

We estimate that a 100 basis point increase in market interest rates would have resulted in a pre-tax loss in the 
fair value of fixed maturity investments of approximately $5.5 million at December 31, 2004.  Similarly, a 100 
basis point decrease in market interest rates would have resulted in an estimated pre-tax gain in the fair value of 
these instruments of approximately $5.8 million at December 31, 2004.  Note, however, that the hypothetical loss 
mentioned above would only be realized if the Company was obligated to sell bonds prior to maturity, which is 
extremely unlikely.  The aggregate value of money market and short-term investments, bonds maturing within 
twelve months and expected positive cash flow from operations for 2005 is equal to more than 100% of net loss 
and loss expense reserves at December 31, 2004.

The Company's exposure to foreign currency risk is not material.
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press.  The quotations reflect interdealer prices without retail markup, markdown or commission and do not nec-
essarily represent actual transactions.  All per share amounts have been adjusted for a five-for-four stock split, 
effective February 17, 2003.

The Company expects to continue its policy of paying regular cash dividends although there is no assurance as to 
future dividends because they are dependent on future earnings, capital requirements and financial conditions and 
are subject to regulatory restrictions as described in Note F to the consolidated financial statements.

The Company has paid quarterly cash dividends continuously since 1974.  The current regular quarterly dividend 
rate is $.10 per share.  Since the fourth quarter of 2003, the Company has paid an extra cash dividend each quarter 
in recognition of the Company’s more than adequate capitalization, the favorable income tax rates available to 
individuals on dividends and excellent earnings over the past three years.  Total extra dividends paid in 2004 and 
2003 were $1.65 and $.25 per share, respectively.  The Board intends to address the subject of dividends at each 
of its future meetings considering the Company’s earnings, returns on investments and its capital needs; however, 
shareholders should not expect extra dividends, if any, in the future to follow any predetermined pattern.

Consolidated Balance Sheets
Baldwin & Lyons, Inc. and Subsidiaries

December 31
2004 2003

(dollars in thousands)
Assets       
Investments:
    Fixed maturities $   331,281 $   321,193 
    Equity securities 133,042 130,139 
    Short-term and other 52,395 36,545 

516,718 487,877 

Cash and cash equivalents 57,384 30,078 
Accounts receivable--less allowance
   (2004, $1,161; 2003, $1,127) 33,481 37,333 
Accrued investment income  3,774 3,848 
Reinsurance recoverable  236,466 185,457 
Prepaid reinsurance premiums 5,000 6,650 
Deferred policy acquisition costs 4,797 5,309 
Property and equipment--less accumulated depreciation
    (2004, $9,696; 2003, $10,009) 5,236 6,206 
Notes receivable from employees 2,514 4,828 
Other assets 3,193 2,271 

$   868,563  $   769,857 
 

Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity
Reserves:
    Losses and loss expenses $   441,821 $   343,724 
    Unearned premiums 33,233 36,803 

475,054 380,527 

Reinsurance payable 4,899 7,460 
Note payable 6,000  - 
Accounts payable and other liabilities 43,325 43,195 
Current federal income taxes 660 901 
Deferred federal income taxes 12,077 13,200 
  542,015  445,283 
Shareholders' equity:
    Common stock, no par value:   
       Class A -- authorized 3,000,000 shares;
           outstanding -- 2004 and 2003, 2,666,666 shares 114 114 
       Class B -- authorized 20,000,000 shares;
           outstanding -- 2004, 12,056,124 shares; 2003, 11,924,354 shares 514 509 
    Additional paid-in capital 37,083 35,419 
    Unrealized net gains on investments 44,497 44,837 
    Retained earnings 244,340 243,695 

326,548  324,574 
$   868,563 $   769,857 

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

Payments Due by Period

Total
Less than 1 

year 1 - 3 Years 3 - 5 Years
More Than 

5 Years

(Dollars in millions)

Loss and loss expense reserves  $441.8  $119.3  $114.9  $52.1  $155.5 

Investment commitments  6.5  6.5  -  -  - 

Operating leases  4.3  1.2  2.4  .8  - 

Total  $452.6  $127.0  $117.3  $52.9  $155.5 

The Company’s loss and loss expense reserves do not have contractual maturity dates and the exact timing of 
the payment of claims cannot be predicted with certainty.  However, based upon historical payment patterns, 
we have included an estimate of when we might expect our direct loss and loss expense reserves (without the 
benefit of reinsurance recoveries) to be paid in the preceding table.  Timing of the collection of the related rein-
surance recoverable, estimated to be $233.0 million at December 31, 2004, would approximate that of the above 
projected direct reserve payout.

The investment commitments in the above table relate to unfunded capital obligations for limited partnership 
investments the Company owned at December 31, 2004.

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

The table below sets forth the amounts of the Company’s contractual obligations at December 31, 2004.

MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Management is responsible for the preparation of the Company’s consolidated financial statements and related 
information appearing in this report.  Management believes that the consolidated financial statements fairly reflect 
the form and substance of transactions and that the financial statements reasonably present the Company’s financial 
position and results of operations in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.  Management also 
has included in the Company’s financial statements amounts that are based on estimates and judgments which it 
believes are reasonable under the circumstances.

Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered public accounting, firm audits the Company’s consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board and provides an 
objective, independent review of the fairness of reported operating results and financial position.



18 19

REPORT ON CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Shareholders and Board of Directors
Baldwin & Lyons, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Baldwin & Lyons, Inc. and subsidiaries as of De-
cember 31, 2004 and 2003, and the related consolidated statements of income, changes in equity other than capital, 
and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2004. These financial statements are the 
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements 
based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence support-
ing the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles 
used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. 
We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial 
position of Baldwin & Lyons, Inc. and subsidiaries at December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the consolidated results of 
their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2004, in conformity 
with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States), the effectiveness of Baldwin & Lyons, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, 
based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organi-
zations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated March 4, 2005 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

  Indianapolis, Indiana
March 4, 2005

REPORTS OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP

   INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL 
CONDITION AND THE RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (CONTINUED)

The Board of Directors of the Company has an Audit Committee composed of three non-management Directors.  
The committee meets periodically with financial management, the internal auditors and the independent registered 
public accounting firm to review accounting, control, auditing and financial reporting matters.

MANAGEMENT'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over fi-
nancial reporting, as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f).  Under the supervision 
and with the participation of management, including the chief executive officer and the chief financial officer, the 
Company conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting based on 
the framework in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations 
of the Treadway Commission.  Based on our evaluation under this framework, management concluded that the 
Company’s internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2004.  Management’s as-
sessment of the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004 
has been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report 
which is included herein.

REPORTS OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP

   INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM (CONTINUED)

REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Shareholders and Board of Directors
Baldwin & Lyons, Inc.

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal 
Control Over Financial Reporting, that Baldwin & Lyons, Inc. maintained effective internal control over financial 
reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework is-
sued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). Baldwin 
& Lyons, Inc.’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and 
for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express 
an opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control 
over financial reporting based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board 
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit 
included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s assess-
ment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other 
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis 
for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance re-
garding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting 
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, 
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable 
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made 
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable 
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s 
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.  
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become 
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures 
may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that Baldwin & Lyons, Inc. maintained effective internal control over financial 
reporting as of December 31, 2004, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the COSO criteria.  Also, in our 
opinion, Baldwin & Lyons, Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting 
as of December 31, 2004, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States), the 2004 consolidated financial statements of Baldwin & Lyons, Inc. and subsidiaries and our report dated 
March 4, 2005 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Indianapolis, Indiana
March 4, 2005
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REPORT ON CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Shareholders and Board of Directors
Baldwin & Lyons, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Baldwin & Lyons, Inc. and subsidiaries as of De-
cember 31, 2004 and 2003, and the related consolidated statements of income, changes in equity other than capital, 
and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2004. These financial statements are the 
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements 
based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence support-
ing the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles 
used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. 
We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial 
position of Baldwin & Lyons, Inc. and subsidiaries at December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the consolidated results of 
their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2004, in conformity 
with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States), the effectiveness of Baldwin & Lyons, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, 
based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organi-
zations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated March 4, 2005 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

  Indianapolis, Indiana
March 4, 2005

REPORTS OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP

   INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL 
CONDITION AND THE RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (CONTINUED)

The Board of Directors of the Company has an Audit Committee composed of three non-management Directors.  
The committee meets periodically with financial management, the internal auditors and the independent registered 
public accounting firm to review accounting, control, auditing and financial reporting matters.

MANAGEMENT'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over fi-
nancial reporting, as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f).  Under the supervision 
and with the participation of management, including the chief executive officer and the chief financial officer, the 
Company conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting based on 
the framework in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations 
of the Treadway Commission.  Based on our evaluation under this framework, management concluded that the 
Company’s internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2004.  Management’s as-
sessment of the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004 
has been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report 
which is included herein.

REPORTS OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP

   INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM (CONTINUED)

REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Shareholders and Board of Directors
Baldwin & Lyons, Inc.

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal 
Control Over Financial Reporting, that Baldwin & Lyons, Inc. maintained effective internal control over financial 
reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework is-
sued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). Baldwin 
& Lyons, Inc.’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and 
for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express 
an opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control 
over financial reporting based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board 
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit 
included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s assess-
ment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other 
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis 
for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance re-
garding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting 
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, 
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable 
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made 
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable 
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s 
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.  
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become 
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures 
may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that Baldwin & Lyons, Inc. maintained effective internal control over financial 
reporting as of December 31, 2004, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the COSO criteria.  Also, in our 
opinion, Baldwin & Lyons, Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting 
as of December 31, 2004, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States), the 2004 consolidated financial statements of Baldwin & Lyons, Inc. and subsidiaries and our report dated 
March 4, 2005 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Indianapolis, Indiana
March 4, 2005
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press.  The quotations reflect interdealer prices without retail markup, markdown or commission and do not nec-
essarily represent actual transactions.  All per share amounts have been adjusted for a five-for-four stock split, 
effective February 17, 2003.

The Company expects to continue its policy of paying regular cash dividends although there is no assurance as to 
future dividends because they are dependent on future earnings, capital requirements and financial conditions and 
are subject to regulatory restrictions as described in Note F to the consolidated financial statements.

The Company has paid quarterly cash dividends continuously since 1974.  The current regular quarterly dividend 
rate is $.10 per share.  Since the fourth quarter of 2003, the Company has paid an extra cash dividend each quarter 
in recognition of the Company’s more than adequate capitalization, the favorable income tax rates available to 
individuals on dividends and excellent earnings over the past three years.  Total extra dividends paid in 2004 and 
2003 were $1.65 and $.25 per share, respectively.  The Board intends to address the subject of dividends at each 
of its future meetings considering the Company’s earnings, returns on investments and its capital needs; however, 
shareholders should not expect extra dividends, if any, in the future to follow any predetermined pattern.

Consolidated Balance Sheets
Baldwin & Lyons, Inc. and Subsidiaries

December 31
2004 2003

(dollars in thousands)
Assets       
Investments:
    Fixed maturities $   331,281 $   321,193 
    Equity securities 133,042 130,139 
    Short-term and other 52,395 36,545 

516,718 487,877 

Cash and cash equivalents 57,384 30,078 
Accounts receivable--less allowance
   (2004, $1,161; 2003, $1,127) 33,481 37,333 
Accrued investment income  3,774 3,848 
Reinsurance recoverable  236,466 185,457 
Prepaid reinsurance premiums 5,000 6,650 
Deferred policy acquisition costs 4,797 5,309 
Property and equipment--less accumulated depreciation
    (2004, $9,696; 2003, $10,009) 5,236 6,206 
Notes receivable from employees 2,514 4,828 
Other assets 3,193 2,271 

$   868,563  $   769,857 
 

Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity
Reserves:
    Losses and loss expenses $   441,821 $   343,724 
    Unearned premiums 33,233 36,803 

475,054 380,527 

Reinsurance payable 4,899 7,460 
Note payable 6,000  - 
Accounts payable and other liabilities 43,325 43,195 
Current federal income taxes 660 901 
Deferred federal income taxes 12,077 13,200 
  542,015  445,283 
Shareholders' equity:
    Common stock, no par value:   
       Class A -- authorized 3,000,000 shares;
           outstanding -- 2004 and 2003, 2,666,666 shares 114 114 
       Class B -- authorized 20,000,000 shares;
           outstanding -- 2004, 12,056,124 shares; 2003, 11,924,354 shares 514 509 
    Additional paid-in capital 37,083 35,419 
    Unrealized net gains on investments 44,497 44,837 
    Retained earnings 244,340 243,695 

326,548  324,574 
$   868,563 $   769,857 

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

Payments Due by Period

Total
Less than 1 

year 1 - 3 Years 3 - 5 Years
More Than 

5 Years

(Dollars in millions)

Loss and loss expense reserves  $441.8  $119.3  $114.9  $52.1  $155.5 

Investment commitments  6.5  6.5  -  -  - 

Operating leases  4.3  1.2  2.4  .8  - 

Total  $452.6  $127.0  $117.3  $52.9  $155.5 

The Company’s loss and loss expense reserves do not have contractual maturity dates and the exact timing of 
the payment of claims cannot be predicted with certainty.  However, based upon historical payment patterns, 
we have included an estimate of when we might expect our direct loss and loss expense reserves (without the 
benefit of reinsurance recoveries) to be paid in the preceding table.  Timing of the collection of the related rein-
surance recoverable, estimated to be $233.0 million at December 31, 2004, would approximate that of the above 
projected direct reserve payout.

The investment commitments in the above table relate to unfunded capital obligations for limited partnership 
investments the Company owned at December 31, 2004.

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

The table below sets forth the amounts of the Company’s contractual obligations at December 31, 2004.

MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Management is responsible for the preparation of the Company’s consolidated financial statements and related 
information appearing in this report.  Management believes that the consolidated financial statements fairly reflect 
the form and substance of transactions and that the financial statements reasonably present the Company’s financial 
position and results of operations in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.  Management also 
has included in the Company’s financial statements amounts that are based on estimates and judgments which it 
believes are reasonable under the circumstances.

Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered public accounting, firm audits the Company’s consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board and provides an 
objective, independent review of the fairness of reported operating results and financial position.
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COMMON STOCK MARKET PRICES AND DIVIDENDS

The Company’s Class A and Class B common stocks are traded on The NASDAQ Stock Market under the 
symbols BWINA and BWINB, respectively.  The Class A and Class B common shares have identical rights and 
privileges except that Class B shares have no voting rights other than on matters for which Indiana law requires 
class voting.  As of December 31, 2004, there were approximately 400 record holders of Class A Common Stock 
and approximately 1000 record holders of Class B Common Stock.

The table above sets forth the range of high and low sale prices for the Class A and Class B Common Stock for 
2004 and 2003, as reported by the National Association of Security Dealers, Inc. and published in the financial 

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL 
CONDITION AND THE RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (CONTINUED)

Cash
Class A Class B Dividends

High Low High Low Declared
Year ended December 31:
2004:
Fourth Quarter $28.24 $24.30 $29.15 $24.52 $1.00 
Third Quarter 29.23 23.75 26.85 23.10   .15 
Second Quarter 29.75 22.75 30.68 22.20   .40 
First Quarter 29.15 22.37 30.00 25.00   .50 

2003:
Fourth Quarter 23.48 22.00 29.45 23.37   .35 
Third Quarter 23.95 20.75 26.51 21.50   .10 
Second Quarter 25.00 18.02 26.48 19.49   .10 
First Quarter 19.85 18.26 20.75 17.83   .10 

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statements of Income
Baldwin & Lyons, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Year Ended December 31

2004 2003 2002

(dollars in thousands, except per share data)

Revenue:    

    Net premiums earned $   172,145  $   146,153  $   104,392 

    Net investment income    12,287    12,873    14,964 

    Realized net gains (losses) on investments    9,770    9,990 (16,445)

    Commissions, service fees and other income    7,131    6,232    5,219 

201,333 175,248 108,130 

Expenses:

    Losses and loss expenses incurred    126,298    95,738    68,107 

    Other operating expenses    31,046    30,477    22,193 

157,344  126,215  90,300 

Income before federal income taxes 43,989  49,033  17,830 

Federal income taxes    13,683    15,958    5,464 

Net income $     30,306 $     33,075 $     12,366 

Per share data:

Diluted earnings:

    Income before realized net gains (losses) $     1.62 $     1.81 $    1.57 

    Realized net gains (losses) on investments .43 .44 ( .73)  

Net income $     2.05 $     2.25 $      .84 

Basic earnings:

    Income before realized net gains (losses) $     1.64 $     1.82 $    1.58 

    Realized net gains (losses) on investments .43 .45 ( .73)

Net income $     2.07 $     2.27 $      .85 

Dividends $     2.05 $       .65 $      .32 

85% of the portfolio matures within 5 years; and the average life of the Company's fixed maturity investments is 
approximately 2.2 years.  Although the Company is exposed to interest rate risk on its fixed maturity investments, 
given the anticipated duration of the Company's liabilities (principally insurance loss and loss expense reserves) 
relative to investment maturities, even a 100 to 200 basis point increase in interest rates would not have a significant 
impact on the Company's ability to conduct daily operations or to meet its obligations.  

There is an inverse relationship between interest rate fluctuations and the fair value of the Company's fixed matu-
rity investments.  Additionally, the fair value of interest rate sensitive instruments may be affected by the financial 
strength of the issuer, prepayment options, relative values of alternative investments, liquidity of the investment 
and other general market conditions.  The Company monitors its sensitivity to interest rate risk by measuring the 
change in fair value of its fixed maturity investments relative to hypothetical changes in interest rates.  As previously 
indicated, several other factors can impact the fair values of fixed maturity investments and, therefore, significant 
variations in market interest rates could produce quite different results from the hypothetical estimates presented 
in the next paragraph.  

We estimate that a 100 basis point increase in market interest rates would have resulted in a pre-tax loss in the 
fair value of fixed maturity investments of approximately $5.5 million at December 31, 2004.  Similarly, a 100 
basis point decrease in market interest rates would have resulted in an estimated pre-tax gain in the fair value of 
these instruments of approximately $5.8 million at December 31, 2004.  Note, however, that the hypothetical loss 
mentioned above would only be realized if the Company was obligated to sell bonds prior to maturity, which is 
extremely unlikely.  The aggregate value of money market and short-term investments, bonds maturing within 
twelve months and expected positive cash flow from operations for 2005 is equal to more than 100% of net loss 
and loss expense reserves at December 31, 2004.

The Company's exposure to foreign currency risk is not material.
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MARKET RISK

The Company operates solely within the property and casualty insurance industry and, accordingly, has significant 
invested assets which are exposed to various market risks.  These market risks relate to interest rate fluctuations, 
equities market prices and, to a far lesser extent, foreign currency rate fluctuations.  All of the Company's invested 
assets are classified as available for sale and are listed as such in Note B to the consolidated financial statements.

The most significant of the three identified market risks relates to prices in the equities market.  Though not the 
largest category of the Company's invested assets, equity securities have the greatest potential for short-term price 
fluctuation.  The market value of the Company's equity positions at December 31, 2004 was $133.0 million or 
approximately 23% of invested assets.  This market valuation includes $66.7 million of appreciation over the cost 
basis of the equity security investments.  Funds invested in the equities market are not considered to be assets 
necessary for the Company to conduct its daily operations and, therefore, can be committed for extended periods 
of time.  The long-term nature of the Company's equity investments allows it to invest in positions where ultimate 
value, and not short-term market fluctuations, is the primary focus.

The Company's fixed maturity portfolio totaled $331.3 million at December 31, 2004.  Over 80% of this portfo-
lio is made up of U. S. Government and government agency obligations and state and municipal debt securities;  

IMPACT OF INFLATION

To the extent possible, the Company attempts to recover the costs of inflation by increasing the premiums it 
charges.  Within the fleet trucking business, a majority of the Company’s premiums are charged as a percentage 
of an insured’s gross revenue or payroll.  As these charging bases increase with inflation, premium revenues are 
immediately increased.  The remaining premium rates charged are adjustable only at periodic intervals and often 
require state regulatory approval.  Such periodic increases in premium rates may lag far behind cost increases.

To the extent inflation influences yields on investments, the Company is also affected.  The Company’s short-term 
and fixed investment portfolios are structured in direct response to available interest rates over the yield curve.  
As available market interest rates fluctuate in response to the presence or absence of inflation, the yields on the 
Company’s investments are impacted.  Further, as inflation affects current market rates of return, previously com-
mitted investments may rise or decline in value depending on the type and maturity of investment.  (See comments 
under Market Risk, following.)

Inflation must also be considered by the Company in the creation and review of loss and loss adjustment expense 
reserves since portions of these reserves are expected to be paid over extended periods of time.  The anticipated 
effect of inflation is implicitly considered when estimating liabilities for losses and loss adjustment expenses.

an insurer to take a special tax deduction equal to the discount on post 1986 accident year loss and loss expense 
reserves while making “special estimated tax payments” equal to the amount of the tax benefit derived from the 
special deduction.  The “special estimated tax payments” can be carried forward for fifteen years to offset taxes 
arising from decreases in the special deduction and can be treated as regular estimated payments or refunded at 
the end of the carryforward period.  Because the recovery of this deferred tax asset is guaranteed, it need not be 
considered when determining the recoverability of deferred tax assets.  

Of the remaining deferred tax assets at December 31, 2004, approximately $3,115 relate to other policy liability 
discounts required by the Internal Revenue Code which are perpetual in nature and, in the absence of the termi-
nation of business, will not reverse to a material degree in the foreseeable future.  An additional $1,583 relates 
to impairment adjustments made to investments, as required by accounting regulations.  The sizable unrealized 
gains in the Company’s investment portfolios would allow for the recovery of this deferred tax at any time.  The 
balance of deferred tax assets, approximately $2,027, consists of various normal operating expense accruals and 
is not considered to be material. As a result of its analysis, management does not believe that any of these assets 
are impaired at December 31, 2004.

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity Other Than Capital
Baldwin & Lyons, Inc. and Subsidiaries

2004 2003 2002

(dollars in thousands)

Balances at beginning of year:
    Retained earnings $  243,695  $  219,079 $  219,067 

    Unrealized gains on investments 44,837 29,640 32,377 

288,532 248,719 251,444 

Changes arising from income-producing activities:
    Net income 30,306 33,075 12,366 

    Gains (losses) on investments:

        Holding gains (losses) arising during period,

            before federal income taxes 9,246 33,371 (20,656)

        Federal income taxes (benefit) 3,236 11,680 (7,230)

6,010 21,691 (13,426)

        (Gains) losses realized during period included in net income,

            before federal income taxes (9,770) (9,990) 16,445 

        Federal income taxes (benefit) (3,420) (3,496) 5,756 

(6,350) (6,494) 10,689 

        Change in unrealized gains on investments (340)  15,197  (2,737)

    Foreign exchange adjustment 413 1,011 77 

Total realized and unrealized income 30,379  49,283  9,706 

Other changes affecting retained earnings:
    Cash dividends paid to shareholders (30,074) (9,470) (4,636)

    Cost of treasury shares in excess of original issue proceeds -  -  (7,795)

(30,074) (9,470) (12,431)

Total changes 305 39,813 (2,725)

Balances at end of year:
    Retained earnings 244,340  243,695 219,079 

    Unrealized gains on investments 44,497 44,837 29,640 

$  288,837 $  288,532 $  248,719 



FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSIDERATIONS

The liability method is used in accounting for federal income taxes.  Using this method, deferred tax assets and 
liabilities are determined based on differences between financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities 
and are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the differences are expected to 
reverse.  The provision for deferred federal income tax was based on items of income and expense that were reported 
in different years in the financial statements and tax returns and were measured at the tax rate in effect in the year 
the difference originated.  Net deferred tax liabilities reported at December 31, 2004 and 2003 consisted of:
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL 
CONDITION AND THE RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (CONTINUED)

FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION

Any forward-looking statements in this report including, without limitation, statements relating to the Company’s 
plans, strategies, objectives, expectations, intentions and adequacy of resources, are made pursuant to the safe 
harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.  Investors are cautioned that such 
forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties including, without limitation, the following:  (i) the 
Company’s plans, strategies, objectives, expectations and intentions are subject to change at any time at the dis-
cretion of the Company;  (ii) the Company’s business is highly competitive and the entrance of new competitors 
into or the expansion of the operations by existing competitors in the Company’s markets and other changes in 
the market for insurance products could adversely affect the Company’s plans and results of operations; and (iii) 
other risks and uncertainties indicated from time to time in the Company’s filings with the Securities 
and Exchange Commission.

ratio of loss adjusting expenses to losses paid on prior closed claims and study of current economic trends affecting 
loss settlement costs are used to estimate the loss adjustment reserve needs related to the established loss reserves.  
Each of these reserve categories contain elements of uncertainty which assure variability when compared to the 
ultimate costs to settle the underlying claims for which the reserves are established.

The reserving process requires management to continuously monitor and evaluate the life cycle of claims based on 
the class of business and the nature of claims.  Our claims range from the very routine private passenger automobile 
“fender bender” to the highly complex and costly third party bodily injury claim involving large tractor-trailer 
rigs.  Reserving for each class of claims requires a set of assumptions based upon historical experience, knowledge 
of current industry trends and seasoned judgment.  The high limits provided in the Company’s trucking liability 
policies provide for greater variation in the reserving process for more serious claims.  Court rulings, tort reform 
(or lack thereof) and trends in jury awards also play a significant role in the estimation process of larger claims.  
The Company continuously reviews and evaluates loss developments subsequent to each measurement date and 
adjusts its reserve estimation assumptions, as necessary, in an effort to achieve the best possible estimate of the 
ultimate remaining loss costs at any point in time.  Changes to previously established reserve amounts are charged 
or credited to losses and loss expenses incurred in the accounting periods in which they are determined.  Note C to 
the consolidated financial statements includes additional information relating to loss and loss adjustment expense 
reserve development.

2004 2003
Total deferred tax liabilities $ 26,630 $ 27,046 
Total deferred tax assets  14,553  13,846 
Net deferred tax liabilities  $ 12,077  $ 13,200 

The total deferred tax assets at December 31, 2004 included $7,828 in special tax deposits covered under Section 
847 of the Internal Revenue Code, as explained in the following paragraph, which compares to $5,523 in special 
tax deposits at December 31, 2003.  Adjusted for the special deposits, net deferred tax assets at December 31, 2004 
were $6,725 compared with $8,322 million at December 31, 2003.  

Section 847 of the Internal Revenue Code created a mechanism which assures recoverability for the  deferred tax 
asset arising from the discounting of property and casualty loss reserves for tax purposes.  This provision allows 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Baldwin & Lyons, Inc. and Subsidiaries     
 

Year Ended December 31
2004 2003 2002

  (dollars in thousands)

Operating activities
   Net income $ 30,306 $ 33,075 $ 12,366 
   Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash
      provided by operating activities:
         Change in accounts receivable and unearned premium 211 4,275 (3,434)
         Change in accrued investment income 74 213 (185)
         Change in reinsurance recoverable on paid losses 2,073 779 (2,612)
         Change in loss and loss expense reserves net of reinsurance 45,087 17,439 6,969 
         Change in other assets, other liabilities and current income taxes (1,626) 7,252 7,046 
         Amortization of net policy acquisition costs (3,512) (4,431) (5,569)
         Net policy acquisition costs deferred 4,024 3,299 4,915 
         Provision for deferred income taxes (940) (743) (2,675)
         Bond amortization 3,722 2,802 1,482 
         Loss on sale of property 14 17 10 
         Depreciation 2,425 2,741 2,601 
         Net realized loss (gain) on investments (9,770) (9,990) 17,057 
         Compensation expense related to discounted stock options 256 143 134 

Net cash provided by operating activities 72,344  56,871  38,105 

Investing activities
   Purchases of fixed maturities and equity securities (186,900) (206,141) (172,806)
   Proceeds from maturities 95,136 85,429 51,978 
   Proceeds from sales of fixed maturities 17,279 34,492 32,000 
   Proceeds from sales of equity securities 56,684 61,764 53,112 
   Net sales (purchases) of short-term investments (5,967) (27,529) 19,814 
   Distributions from limited partnerships 637 63 632 
   Decrease (increase) in principal balance of 
      notes receivable from employees 2,223 2,676 (5,036)
   Purchases of property and equipment (1,580) (2,437) (1,989)
   Proceeds from disposals of property and equipment 111 130 161 

Net cash used in investing activities (22,377)  (51,553)  (22,134)

Financing activities
   Dividends paid to shareholders (30,074) (9,470) (4,636)
   Proceeds from sale of common stock 1,413 31 2
   Drawing on line of credit 6,000 - 10,000 
   Repayment on line of credit - (7,500) (2,500)
   Cost of treasury shares - - (8,978)

Net cash used in financing activities (22,661)  (16,939)  (6,112)
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 27,306  (11,621)  9,859 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 30,078 41,699 31,840 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 57,384 $ 30,078 $ 41,699 

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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however, have been no impact on total shareholders equity or book value per share since the decline in value of 
these securities was already recognized as a reduction to shareholders equity at December 31, 2004.

Reinsurance Recoverable

Amounts recoverable under the terms of reinsurance contracts comprise approximately 27% of total Company 
assets as of December 31, 2004.  In order to be able to provide the high limits required by the Company’s trucking 
company insureds, we share a significant amount of the insurance risk of the underlying contracts with various 
insurance entities through the use of reinsurance contracts.  Some reinsurance contracts provide that a loss be shared 
among the Company and its reinsurers on a predetermined pro-rata basis (“quota-share”) while other contracts 
provide that the Company keep a fixed amount of the loss, similar to a deductible, with reinsurers taking all losses 
above this fixed amount (“excess of loss”).  Some risks are covered by a combination of quota-share and excess of 
loss contracts.  The computation of amounts due from reinsurers is based upon the terms of the various contracts 
and follows the underlying estimation process for loss and loss expense reserves, as described below.  Accord-
ingly, the uncertainties inherent in the loss and loss expense reserving process also affect the amounts recorded 
as recoverable from reinsurers.  Estimation uncertainties are greatest for claims which have occurred but which 
have not yet been reported to the Company.  Further, the high limits provided by the Company’s insurance policies 
for trucking liability and workers’ compensation, provide more variability in the estimation process than lines of 
business with lower coverage limits.  

It should be noted, however, that a change in the estimate of amounts due from reinsurers on unpaid claims will not, 
in itself, result in charges or credits to losses incurred.  This is because any change in estimated recovery follows 
the estimate of the underlying loss.  Thus, it is the computation of the underlying loss that is critical.  

As with any receivable, credit risk exists in the recoverability of reinsurance.  This is even more pronounced than 
in normal receivable situations since recoverable amounts are not generally due until the loss is settled which, in 
some cases, may be many years after the contract was written.  If a reinsurer is unable, in the future, to meet its 
financial commitments under the terms of the contracts, the Company would be responsible for the reinsurer's 
portion of the loss.  The financial condition of each of the Company’s reinsurers is initially determined upon the 
execution of a given treaty and only reinsurers with the highest credit ratings available are utilized.  However, as 
noted above, reinsurers are often not called upon to satisfy their obligations for several years and changes in credit 
worthiness can occur in the interim period.  Reviews of the current financial strength of each reinsurer are made 
continually and, should impairment in the ability of a reinsurer be determined to exist, current year operations 
would be charged in amounts sufficient to provide for the Company’s additional liability.  Such charges are included 
in other operating expenses, rather than losses and loss expenses incurred, since the inability of the Company to 
collect from reinsurers is a credit risk rather than a deficiency associated with the loss reserving process.

Loss and Loss Expense Reserves

The Company’s reserves for losses and loss expenses (“reserves”) are determined based on complex estimation 
processes using historical experience, current economic information and, when necessary, available industry statis-
tics.  Reserves are evaluated in three basic categories (1) “case basis”, (2) “incurred but not reported” and (3) “loss 
adjustment expense” reserves.  Case basis reserves are established for specific known loss occurrences at amounts 
dependent upon various criteria such as type of coverage, severity and the underlying policy limits, as examples.  
Case basis reserves are generally estimated by experienced claims adjusters using established Company guidelines 
and are subject to review by claims management.  Incurred but not reported reserves, which are established for 
those losses which have occurred, but have not yet been reported to the Company, are not linked to specific claims 
but are computed on a “bulk” basis.  Common actuarial methods are used in the establishment of incurred but not 
reported loss reserves using company historical loss data, consideration of changes in the Company’s business and 
study of current economic trends affecting ultimate claims costs.  Loss adjustment expense reserves, or reserves 
for the costs associated with the investigation and settlement of a claim, are also bulk reserves representing the 
Company’s estimate of the costs associated with the claims handling process.  Loss adjustment expense reserves 
include amounts ultimately allocable to individual claims as well as amounts required for the general overhead of 
the claims handling operation that are not specifically allocable to individual claims.  Historical analyses of the 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Baldwin & Lyons, Inc. and Subsidiaries
(dollars in thousands, except per share data)

Note A - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation:  The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Baldwin & Lyons, Inc. and its wholly owned sub-
sidiaries ("the Company").  All significant intercompany transactions and accounts have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of estimates:  Preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes.  Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Cash and cash equivalents:  The Company considers investments in money market funds to be cash equivalents.  Carrying amounts for 
these instruments approximate their fair values.  

Investments:  Carrying amounts for fixed maturity securities (bonds, notes and redeemable preferred stocks) represent fair value and are 
based on quoted market prices, where available, or broker/dealer quotes for specific securities where quoted market prices are not available.  
Equity securities (non-redeemable preferred stocks and common stocks) are carried at quoted market prices (fair value).  Other investments 
are carried at either market value, cost or cost adjusted for operations of limited partnerships, depending on the nature of the investment.  
Put options used as a fair value hedge for a specific portion of the Company's equity security portfolio are included with other investments 
at market value.  All fixed maturity, equity and derivative securities are considered to be available for sale; the related unrealized net gains 
or losses (net of applicable tax effect) are reflected directly in shareholders’ equity unless a decline in value is determined to be other than 
temporary, in which case, the loss is charged to income.  In determining if and when a decline in market value below cost is other than 
temporary, an objective analysis is made of each individual security where current market value is less than cost.   For any security where 
the unrealized loss exceeds 20% of original or adjusted cost, and where that decline has existed for a period of at least six months, the 
decline is treated as an other than temporary impairment, without any subjective evaluation as to possible future recovery.  Although the 
Company has classified fixed maturity investments as available for sale, it has the ability to, and generally does, hold its fixed maturity 
investments to maturity.  Short-term investments are carried at cost which approximates their fair values.  Realized gains and losses on 
disposals of investments are determined by specific identification of cost of investments sold and are included in income.

Property and Equipment:  Property and equipment is carried at cost.  Depreciation is computed principally by the straight-line method.

Reserves for Losses and Loss Expenses:  The reserves for losses and loss expenses, minor portions of which are discounted, are deter-
mined using case basis evaluations and statistical analyses and represent estimates of the ultimate cost of all reported and unreported losses 
which are unpaid at year end.  These reserves include estimates of future trends in claim severity and frequency and other factors which 
could vary as the losses are ultimately settled.  Although it is not possible to measure the degree of variability inherent in such estimates, 
management believes that the reserves for losses and loss expenses are adequate.  The estimates are continually reviewed and as adjust-
ments to these reserves become necessary, such adjustments are reflected in current operations.

Recognition of Revenue and Costs:  Premiums are earned over the period for which insurance protection is provided.  A reserve for un-
earned premiums, computed by the daily pro-rata method, is established to reflect amounts applicable to subsequent accounting periods.  
Commissions to unaffiliated companies and premium taxes applicable to unearned premiums are deferred and expensed as the related 
premiums are earned.  The Company does not defer acquisition costs which are not directly variable with the production of premium and 
are not refundable in the event of policy cancellation.  If it is determined that expected losses and deferred expenses will exceed the related 
unearned premiums, the asset representing deferred policy acquisition costs is reduced and an expense is charged against current opera-
tions to reflect any such premium deficiency.  If the expected premium deficiency exceeds deferred policy acquisition costs, an additional 
liability is recorded with a corresponding expense to current operations for the amount of the excess premium deficiency.  Anticipated 
investment income is considered in determining recoverability of deferred acquisition costs.

Reinsurance:  Reinsurance premiums, commissions, expense reimbursements and reserves related to reinsured business are accounted for 
on bases consistent with those used in accounting for the original policies issued and the terms of the reinsurance contracts.  Premiums 
ceded to other insurers have been reported as a reduction of premium earned.  Amounts applicable to reinsurance ceded for unearned pre-
mium and claim loss reserves have been reported as reinsurance recoverable assets.  Certain reinsurance contracts provide for additional 
or return premiums and commissions based upon profits or losses to the reinsurer over prescribed periods.  Estimates of additional or 
return premiums and commissions are adjusted quarterly to recognize actual loss experience to date as well as projected loss experience 
applicable to the various contract periods.  Reinstatement premiums on reinsurance assumed contracts covering catastrophic events are 
recorded concurrently with the related loss.

Should impairment in the ability of a reinsurer to satisfy its obligations to the Company be determined to exist, current year operations 
would be charged in amounts sufficient to provide for the Company’s additional liability.  Such charges are included in other operating 
expenses, rather than losses and loss expenses incurred, since the inability of the Company to collect from reinsurers is a credit risk rather 
than a deficiency associated with the loss reserving process.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL 
CONDITION AND THE RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (CONTINUED)

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The Company’s significant accounting policies are discussed in Note A to the consolidated financial statements.  
The following discussion is provided to highlight areas of the Company’s accounting policies which are both 
material and subject to significant degrees of estimation.

Investment Valuation

All marketable securities are included in the Company’s balance sheet at current fair market value.

Approximately 67% of the Company’s assets are composed of investments at December 31, 2004.  Approximately 
3% of these investments, consisting of limited partnership investments in equity trading and hedge funds, real 
estate development ventures and venture capital funds, do not have readily determinable market values.  For these 
investments, we estimate fair value by reference to the underlying assets of the limited partnerships.  In addition, 
approximately $16.9 million of fixed maturity investments (3% of total invested assets) consists of bonds rated 
as less than investment grade at year end.  The majority of this total is composed of shares in a widely diversified 
high yield municipal bond fund where exposure to default by any single issuer is extremely limited.  Further, the 
average bond quality of assets held in this fund at year end was BBB, which would be considered investment grade.  
We have included the investment in this fund in the total of non-investment grade bonds since, under the terms of 
the fund, the average bond quality could fall below BBB.  

In determining if and when a decline in market value below cost is other than temporary, we first make an objec-
tive analysis of each individual security where current market value is less than cost.   For any security where the 
unrealized loss exceeds 20% of original or adjusted cost, and where that decline has existed for a period of at least 
six months, the decline is treated as an other than temporary impairment, without any subjective evaluation as to 
possible future recovery.  The only exception exists where substantial recovery to cost has actually occurred prior 
to the issuance of the financial statements.  For individual issues where the decline in value is less than 20% but 
the amount of the decline is considered significant, a similar objective evaluation is conducted but, in these cases, 
we will also evaluate the market conditions, trends of earnings, price multiples and other key measures for the 
securities to determine if it appears that the decline is other than temporary.  For any decline which is considered 
to be other than temporary, we recognize an impairment loss in the current period operating results as an addition 
to realized capital losses.  Declines which are considered to be temporary are recorded as a reduction in sharehold-
ers’ equity, net of related federal income tax credits.

It is important to note that all investments included in the Company’s financial statements are valued at current 
fair market values.  The evaluation process for determination of other than temporary decline in value of invest-
ments does not change these valuations but, rather, determines when the decline in value will be recognized in 
the income statement (other than temporary decline) as opposed to a charge to shareholders’ equity (temporary 
decline).  Subsequent recoveries in value of investments which have incurred an other than temporary impairment 
adjustment are accounted for as unrealized gains until the security is actually disposed of or sold.  At December 
31, 2004, unrealized gains include $4.2 million of appreciation on investments previously adjusted for “other than 
temporary” impairment, compared to a $4.5 million impairment allowance at that date.  See Note B to the con-
solidated financial statements for additional detail with respect to this process.  This evaluation process is subject 
to risks and uncertainties since it is not always clear what has caused a decline in value of an individual security 
or since some declines may be associated with general market conditions or economic factors which relate to an 
industry, in general, but not necessarily to an individual issue.  The Company has attempted to minimize many of 
these uncertainties by adopting a largely objective evaluation process which results in automatic income statement 
recognition of any investment which, over a six month period, is unable to recover from a 20% decline in value 
from our cost basis.  However, to the extent that certain declines in value are reported as unrealized at December 
31, 2004, it is possible that future earnings charges will result should the declines in value increase or persist or 
should the security actually be disposed of while market values are less than cost.  At December 31, 2004, the total 
gross unrealized loss included in the Company’s investment portfolio was less than $1.8 million.  No individual 
issue constituted a material amount of this total.  Had this entire amount been considered other than temporary 
at December 31, 2004, realized capital gains would have decreased by $.08 per share for the year.  There would, 

Note A - Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Federal Income Taxes:  A consolidated federal income tax return is filed by the Company and includes all wholly owned subsidiaries.

Stock-based Compensation:  The Company uses the "fair value method" to account for options granted to employees and non-em-
ployee directors in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, Stock-Based Compensation, as amended 
by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation - Transition and Disclosure.

Earnings Per Share:  Diluted earnings per share of common stock are based on the average number of shares of Class A and Class 
B common stock outstanding during the year, adjusted for the effect, if any, of options outstanding.  Basic earnings per share are 
presented exclusive of the effect of options outstanding.  See note H.

Comprehensive Income:  The Company records accumulated other comprehensive income from unrealized gains and losses on 
available-for-sale securities as a separate component of shareholders’ equity.  Foreign exchange adjustments are not material and the 
Company has no defined benefit pension plan.  

The enclosed Statement of Changes in Equity Other Than Capital refers to comprehensive income as Total realized and unrealized 
income.  Items of other comprehensive income included in this statement are referred to as Change in unrealized gains (losses) on 
investments and Foreign exchange adjustment.  A reclassification adjustment to other comprehensive income is made for Gains real-
ized during period included in net income.

Reclassification:  Certain prior year balances have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation.  All share amounts 
have been restated for the five-for-four stock split declared in February, 2003.

The securities in an unrealized loss position are not significant.

Note B - Investments
The following is a summary of available-for-sale securities at December 31:

Fair
Value

Cost or
Amortized

Cost

Gross
Unrealized

Gains

Gross
Unrealized

Losses

Net
Unrealized

Gains

2004:
   U. S. government obligations $ 119,469 $ 119,529 $         393 $      (453) $        (60)
   Mortgage-backed securities 16,505 16,559 126 (180) (54)
   Obligations of states and political subdivisions 141,436 140,908 898 (370) 528 
   Corporate securities 46,962 45,799 1,350 (187) 1,163 
   Foreign government obligations 6,909 6,735 174 - 174 
      Total fixed maturities 331,281 329,530 2,941 (1,190) 1,751 
   Equity securities 133,042 66,320 67,302 (580) 66,722 
   Short-term and other 52,395 52,411 - (16) (16)
      Total available-for-sale securities $ 516,718 $ 448,261 $    70,243 $   (1,786) 68,457 

Applicable federal income taxes (23,960)

Net unrealized gains - net of tax $   44,497 
2003:
   U. S. government obligations $ 119,758 $ 118,267 $      1,511 $        (20) $     1,491 
   Mortgage-backed securities 19,198 19,139 168 (109) 59 
   Obligations of states and political subdivisions 104,237 102,865 1,398 (26) 1,372 
   Corporate securities 71,601 67,512 4,161 (72) 4,089 
   Foreign government obligations 6,399 6,295 104 - 104 
      Total fixed maturities 321,193 314,078 7,342 (227) 7,115 
   Equity securities 130,139 67,929 62,805 (595) 62,210 
   Short-term and other 36,545 36,890 - (345) (345)
      Total available-for-sale securities $ 487,877 $ 418,897 $    70,147 $   (1,167) 68,980 

Applicable federal income taxes (24,143)

Net unrealized gains - net of tax $   44,837 
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ing 2003 compared to 5.1% in 2002.  Yields on short-term investments also declined from 1.4% in 2002 to .8% 
in 2003.  After tax yields declined less than pre-tax because of a reallocation of the investment portfolio whereby 
corporate (fully taxable) bonds were replaced with municipal (largely tax exempt) bonds.  After-tax yields were 
2.4% and 2.9% for 2003 and 2002, respectively. 

Realized net capital gains were $10.0 million in 2003 compared to losses of $16.4 million for 2002.  The current 
year’s net gain consisted of gains on equity securities of $9.3 million, gains on fixed maturities of $.5 million, and 
gains on other investments of $.2 million.  The gains on equity securities include approximately $3.9 million of 
gains realized by disposal of securities whose recorded value had previously been written down due to other than 
temporary impairment concerns.  Partially offsetting the effect of other than temporary impairment adjustments 
on securities sold was $2.4 million in unrealized losses on fixed maturity securities still owned which experienced 
a decline in market value of more than 20% for more than six months and, accordingly, were reclassified as real-
ized losses during 2003.  The gains realized during 2003 reflect the improvement in the equity markets, in general, 
particularly in the last quarter.

Losses and loss expenses incurred during 2003 increased $27.6 million (41%) to $95.7 million.  The increase in 
losses incurred is reflective of the 40% increase in net premiums earned, as previously discussed.  The 2003 consoli-
dated loss and loss expense ratio was 65.5% compared to 65.2% for 2002.  The loss and loss expense ratios for the 
Company's fleet trucking and private passenger automobile programs were fairly consistent with that experienced 
in 2002.  Small fleet trucking experienced a 14 percentage point increase in its loss and loss expense ratio due to 
the increased frequency and severity of reported claims while the loss and loss expense ratio for reinsurance as-
sumed dropped by 10 percentage points, reflecting the lack of major catastrophe activity affecting treaties in which 
the Company participates.  The loss and loss expense ratio for the small business workers' compensation program 
increased to 91.4% in 2003 from 54.7% in 2002.  This significant increase is due to approximately $.7 million in 
adjustments to prior year losses resulting from internal management review of the reserving methodologies for 
this product as well as increased frequency and severity of 2003 losses.

Including the deficiency noted above for the small business workers' compensation product, the Company produced 
an overall savings on the handling of prior year claims during 2003 of $13.6 million.  See comments regarding 
prior year reserve savings in the comparison of 2004 to 2003.

Other operating expenses for 2003, before credits for allowances from reinsurers, increased $10.8 million (27%) 
to $50.6 million.  Gross expenses increased at a lower rate than the increase in premium volume because much 
of the Company’s expense structure is fixed and does not vary directly with volume.  Personnel related expenses, 
including amounts allocated to loss expenses and investment income, increased 26% due mainly to employee 
incentives based upon Company performance in addition to a 7% increase in the number of employees during 
2003.  Direct commission expense increased $2.9 million (33%) due to growth in all of the Company's business 
produced by outside agents and as the result of increased participation in voluntary reinsurance assumed treaties.  
Ceding commission allowances from reinsurers increased $2.5 million (14%), resulting from increased premium 
volume ceded under reinsurance agreements covering Protective's fleet trucking business.  The ratio of net operat-
ing expenses of the insurance subsidiaries to net premiums earned was 26.5% during 2003 compared to 26.1% 
for 2002.  Including the agency operations, and after elimination of inter-company commissions, the ratio of other 
operating expenses to operating revenue was 18.4% for 2003 compared with 17.8% for 2002, with the increase 
primarily attributable to the lower ratio of ceding commission income to gross acquisition costs, as less of the 
gross premium is ceded to reinsurers.

The effective federal tax rate for consolidated operations for 2003 was 32.5%.  This rate is lower than the statutory 
rate primarily because of tax-exempt investment income.

As a result of the factors mentioned above, net income for 2003 was $33.1 million compared to $12.4 million for 
2002.  Diluted earnings per share increased to $2.25 in 2003 from $.84 in 2002.  Earnings per share from opera-
tions before realized gains or losses on investments was $1.81 in 2003 compared to $1.57 in 2002.

The fair value and the cost or amortized cost of fixed maturity investments at December 31, 2004, by contractual maturity, are shown 
below.  Actual maturities may differ from contractual maturities because borrowers have, in some cases, the right to call or prepay 
obligations with or without call or prepayment penalties.

Note B - Investments (continued)
Gross realized gains and losses on investments for the years ended December 31 are summarized below:

2004 2003 2002
Fixed maturities:
   Gains $    2,214 $     1,122 $       1,396 
   Losses (364) (584) (3,278)
      Net gains (losses) 1,850 538 (1,882)

Equity securities:
   Gains 10,534 15,754 5,774 
   Losses (1,994) (6,502) (19,520)
      Net gains (losses) 8,540 9,252 (13,746)

Short-term and other - net gain (loss) (620) 200 (817)

      Total net gains (losses) $    9,770 $   9,990 ($    16,445)

Fair Value

Cost or 
Amoritzed 

Cost

One year or less $ 146,408 $ 145,759 
Excess of one year to five years 150,431 149,446 
Excess of five years to ten years 6,138 6,117 
Excess of ten years 8,814 8,713 
   Total maturities 311,791 310,035 
Mortgage-backed securities 16,505 16,559 
Redeemable preferred stock 2,985 2,936 

$ 331,281 $ 329,530 

2004 2003 2002

Cumulative writedowns at the beginning of the year $   5,765 $   7,234 $   2,081 

Writedowns based on objective criteria 1,143 2,394 6,675 

Recovery of prior writedowns upon sale or disposal (2,385) (3,863) (1,522)

Cumulative writedowns at the end of the year $   4,523 $   5,765 $   7,234 

Net pre-tax realized gain (loss) $   1,242 $   1,469 ($   5,153)

Addition (reduction) to earnings per share $       .05 $       .06 $     (.28)

Unrealized gain on investments previously
   written down at end of the year - see note below $   4,201 $   4,319 $          9 

Activity with respect to other than temporary impairment of investments for the years ended December 31 is summarized as 
follows:

Note:  Recovery in market value of an investment which has been adjusted for other than temporary impairment by inclusion in realized 
losses in the income statement  is treated as an unrealized gain until the investment is disposed of.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL 
CONDITION AND THE RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (CONTINUED)

2003 Compared to 2002

Direct premiums written for 2003 totaled $215.6 million, an increase of $50.9 million (31%) from 2002.  This 
increase is primarily attributable to increases in fleet trucking liability and private passenger automobile programs 
of $32.6 million (43%) and $6.9 million (19%), respectively, from 2002 levels.  Direct premium writings from 
the Company's small trucking fleet, independent contractor and small business workers' compensation programs 
also increased by $4.6 million (43%), $3.5 million (10%) and $3.3 million (53%), respectively.  Large trucking 
fleet volume increased primarily from the addition of new accounts during 2003 and the fact that a full year of 
premiums was recorded for the new accounts added in 2002.  Increased revenues from renewal accounts and, to 
a lesser degree, premium rate increases also contributed to the increase in large fleet trucking liability premiums 
during 2003.  The higher premium volume from the independent contractor program resulted from the addition of 
contractors by existing accounts.  Increased premium volume from the Sagamore personal automobile and com-
mercial divisions came largely from existing market areas resulting from improving market conditions and, to a 
lesser extent, from geographic expansion.

Premiums assumed from other insurers and reinsurers totaled $11.1 million during 2003, an increase of $3.0 million 
(37%) from 2002.  Improved pricing in this market allowed the Company to increase its participation in existing 
treaties and, to a lesser extent, add new treaties during 2003.  Premium volume for this division is limited by the 
Company’s self-imposed limitation to loss from a single catastrophic event.  Further, the Company’s participation 
in reinsurance assumed in the future will be restricted should pricing become less favorable.

Premiums ceded to reinsurers increased $9.7 million (15%) during 2003 to $73.5 million.  The consolidated percent-
age of premiums ceded to direct premiums written decreased to 34% for 2003 from 39% for 2002.  This decrease 
is reflective of the Company's increased exposure under reinsurance treaties effective in 2002 and 2003 covering 
large fleet trucking risks.  The Company's maximum retained loss under these treaties has increased over the last 
two years and, as a result, a lower percentage of the direct premiums are ceded to reinsurers.

After giving effect to changes in unearned premiums, net premiums earned increased 40% to $146.2 million for 
2003 from $104.4 million for 2002.  Excluding inter-company reinsurance arrangements, net premiums earned 
from all trucking-related insurance products increased by $29.3 million (48%).  Net premiums earned from the 
Company's private passenger automobile, non-affiliated reinsurance assumed and small business workers' compen-
sation programs also increased $6.4 million (20%), $3.0 million (39%) and $2.6 million (76%), respectively.  

Net investment income decreased $2.1 million (14%) during 2003 reflecting lower overall pre-tax yields while 
average invested assets increased 6%.  The average pre-tax yield on invested assets dropped to 3.3% in 2003 from 
4.1% during 2002 (18%).  The largest decline in yields occurred in the bond portfolio which averaged 3.9% dur-

Substantially all fleet trucking business is produced by direct sales efforts of Baldwin & Lyons, Inc. employees 
and, accordingly, this business does not incur commission expense on a consolidated basis.  Instead, the expenses 
of the agency operations, including salaries and bonuses of salesmen, travel expenses, etc. are included in operat-
ing expenses.  In general, commissions paid by the insurance subsidiaries to the parent company exceed related 
acquisition costs incurred in the production of fleet trucking business.  The ratio of net operating expenses of the 
insurance subsidiaries to net premiums earned was 24.0% during 2004 compared to 26.5% for 2003.  Including 
the agency operations, and after elimination of inter-company commissions, the ratio of other operating expenses 
to operating revenue (defined as total revenue less realized gains on investments) was 16.2% for 2004 compared 
with 18.4% for 2003, and reflects the fixed nature of certain of the Company's expenses, as discussed above.

The effective federal tax rate for consolidated operations for 2004 was 31.1%.  This rate is lower than the statutory 
rate primarily because of tax-exempt investment income.

As a result of the factors mentioned above, net income for 2004 was $30.3 million compared to $33.1 million for 
2003.  Diluted earnings per share decreased to $2.05 in 2004 from $2.25 in 2003.  Earnings per share from opera-
tions, before realized gains or losses on investments, was $1.62 in 2004 compared to $1.81 in 2003.

Substantially all of the Company’s fixed income portfolio is managed by ABN AMRO Asset Management (ABN).  A director of 
the Company is an executive officer of ABN.  Management fees paid to ABN were $379, $366 and $348 during 2004, 2003 and 
2002, respectively.  The Company also has holdings in money market accounts which are managed by or purchased through ABN.

For the three years ended December 31, 2004. the Company executed 23% of total purchases and 41% of total sales of securities 
through broker-dealers in which certain directors of the Company are or were officers, directors or owners.  Commission rates 
charged by these affiliated broker-dealers to the Company were commensurate with rates charged to non-affiliated customers.  In 
addition, at December 31, 2004, the Company has invested approximately $11,146 in certain limited partnerships which are man-
aged by organizations in which certain directors of the Company are officers, directors, general partners or owners.  Certain of 
these investments contain profit sharing provisions to the affiliated organizations.  Total fees and profit sharing earned by affiliated 
investment advisors, other than ABN, were $480, $2,529 and $181 in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

The reserves for losses and loss expenses, net of related reinsurance recoverables, at December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 were de-
creased by $14,956, $13,586 and $10,008, respectively, for claims that had occurred on or prior to those dates.  These decreases are 
the result of the settlement of claims at amounts lower than previously reserved and changes in estimates of losses incurred but not 
reported as part of the normal reserving process.  Included in the above developments during 2004, 2003 and 2002, are decreases of 
$656, $1,659 and $1,539, respectively, in reserves outstanding at December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 for losses and loss expenses 
related to environmental damage claims.  Reserves for incurred but not reported environmental losses were $2,000 and $2,500 at 
December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.  

Year Ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002

Reserves at the beginning of the year $ 163,699 $ 144,702 $ 137,733 

Provision for losses and loss expenses:
   Claims occurring during the current year 141,254 109,324 78,115 
   Claims occurring during prior years (14,956) (13,586) (10,008)
      Total incurred 126,298 95,738 68,107 

Loss and loss expense payments:
   Claims occurring during the current year 43,351 37,625 30,997 
   Claims occurring during prior years 38,234 39,956 30,249 
      Total paid 81,585 77,581 61,246 

Change in allowance for uncollectible
    amounts due from reinsurers 374 840 108 
Reserves at the end of the year 208,786 163,699 144,702 

Reinsurance recoverable on reserves at the end of the year 233,035 180,025 133,042 
Reserves, gross of reinsurance

    recoverables, at the end of the year $ 441,821 $ 343,724 $ 277,744 

Note B - Investments (continued)
Major categories of investment income for the years ended December 31 are summarized as follows:

2004 2003 2002
Fixed maturities $   10,231 $   11,275 $   12,744 
Equity securities 2,443 2,367 2,813 
Money market funds 540 354 663 
Short-term and other 493 311 207 

13,707 14,307 16,427 
Investment expenses (1,420) (1,434) (1,463)

Net investment income $   12,287 $   12,873 $   14,964 

Note C - Loss and Loss Expense Reserves
Activity in the reserves for losses and loss expenses is summarized as follows.  All amounts are shown net of reinsurance recover-
able.



attributable to the process of accounting for “other than temporary impairment” in the investment portfolio.  The 
net gain includes $2.4 million representing subsequent appreciation on previously written down securities disposed 
of during 2004 offset by additional write downs during the year.  See the Investment Valuation section under the 
caption Critical Accounting Policies and Note B to the consolidated financial statements for further information 
with respect to the other than temporary impairment adjustment process.

Losses and loss expenses incurred during 2004 increased $30.6 million (32%) to $126.3 million.  The increase 
in losses incurred is reflective of the 18% increase in net premiums earned, and primarily the 24% increase in 
premiums from trucking-related products, as previously discussed, and from $5.0 million of losses attributable to 

the Florida hurricanes during September, 2004.  
The 2004 consolidated loss and loss expense 
ratio was 73.4% compared to 65.5% for 2003.  
The Company's loss and loss expense ratios for 
individual product lines are summarized in the 
table insert.  The loss and loss expense ratio  
for fleet trucking products for 2004 reflects an 
increase in severity of accidents, particularly 
in the large fleet excess product.  While overall 
frequency in the trucking lines has not increased 
significantly, the frequency of severe losses was 

higher in 2004.  Part of the increase in severity is attributable to social inflation factors which result in higher jury 
awards and settlements on serious accidents.  The Company’s higher retention under recent reinsurance treaty 
renewals also allows for more net volatility in this line of business.  The loss and loss expense ratio for reinsurance 
assumed increased by 8 percentage points, and relates primarily to hurricane losses in 2004.  The small business 
workers' compensation program continued to perform poorly.  This continued unsatisfactory performance prompted 
management to discontinue this product in the current year fourth quarter.

The Company produced an overall savings on the handling of prior year claims during 2004 of $15.0 million.  
This net savings is included in the computation of loss ratios shown in the table insert.  Because of the high limits 
provided by the Company to its large trucking fleet insureds, the length of time required to settle larger, more 
complex claims and the volatility of the trucking liability insurance business, the Company believes it is important 
to have a high degree of conservatism in its reserving process.  As claims are settled in years subsequent to their 
occurrence, the Company's claim handling process has, historically, tended to produce savings from the reserves 
provided.  The Company believes that favorable loss developments are attributable to the Company's long-stand-
ing policy of reserving for losses realistically and a willingness to settle claims based upon a seasoned evaluation 
of its exposures.  Changes in both gross premium volumes and the Company's reinsurance structure for its large 
trucking fleets can have a significant impact on future loss developments and, as a result, loss and loss expense 
ratios and prior year reserve development may not be consistent year to year.

Other operating expenses for 2004, before credits for allowances from reinsurers, increased $.9 million (2%) to 
$51.5 million.  Gross expenses increased at a lower rate than the increase in premium volume because much of 
the Company’s expense structure is fixed and does not vary directly with volume.  In general, only commissions 
to independent agents, premium taxes and other acquisition costs vary directly with premium volume.  Direct 
commission expense increased $.8 million (7%) due to growth in business produced by outside agents.  Resulting 
primarily from the increase in premium earned, taxes other than federal income and salary-related taxes increased 
$.7 million (12%) from 2003,  Most other expense categories were level or down from the prior year as the invest-
ment in automation during the past several years has allowed for the handling of higher premium volume without 
the addition of employees.  

Reinsurance ceded credits were $.4 million (2%) higher in 2004, in line with higher reinsurance ceded premiums.  
While the dollars of reinsurance ceded credits were higher this year, the ratio of reinsurance ceded credits to gross 
acquisition costs declined because Protective is retaining a greater percentage of the gross premium for its own 
account under recent reinsurance treaties.

Loss and loss expense ratios:
2004 2003

Fleet trucking 79.3% 68.6%
Private passenger automobile 58.7   60.2   
Small fleet trucking 63.5   64.0   
Voluntary reinsurance assumed 59.8   51.6   
Small business workers’ compensation 92.2   91.4   
All lines 73.4   65.5   
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Note D - Income Taxes
Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for 
financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes.  Significant components of the Company's deferred tax 
assets and liabilities as of December 31 are as follows:

2004 2003
Deferred tax liabilities:
   Unrealized gain on investments $  23,960 $  24,143 
   Deferred acquisition costs 1,693 1,868 
   Salvage and subrogation 875 840 
   Other 102 195 
      Total deferred tax liabilities 26,630 27,046 

Deferred tax assets:
   Discounts of loss and loss expense reserves 7,828 5,523 
   Other than temporary investment declines 1,583 2,018 
   Deferred compensation 1,577 2,460 
   Unearned premiums 2,314 2,569 
   Other 1,251 1,276 
      Total deferred tax assets 14,553 13,846 

      Net deferred tax liabilities $  12,077 $  13,200 

Note C - Loss and Loss Expense Reserves (contuned)
Development during 2004 and 2002 also included decreases in reinsurance assumed loss and loss expense reserves at December 
31, 2003 and 2001 of $2,412 and $1,305, respectively.  Development during 2003 included an increase in reinsurance assumed 
loss reserves at December 31, 2002 of $799.  Favorable loss development is influenced by the Company's long-standing policy of 
reserving for losses realistically and a willingness to settle claims based upon a seasoned evaluation of its exposures.  Under terms 
of reinsurance agreements effective June 1, 1998, the Company's exposure on large fleet trucking losses dropped from $1,000 to 
$100 per occurrence.  Effective in June of each year 2001 through 2004, terms of replacement reinsurance agreements increased the 
Company's maximum exposure on large fleet trucking losses to $1,020, $1,400, $1,625 and $2,000, respectively, per occurrence.  The 
excess of loss treaty renewed in June, 2004 includes an aggregate deductible that must be exceeded before the Company can recover 
under the terms of the treaty.  The Company retains a higher percentage of the direct premium in consideration of this deductible 
provision.  2004 net premium earned and losses incurred each include $2,278 relative to this deductible provision.  The increased 
net retention per occurrence is reflected in the increase in the dollar amount of favorable development during 2004.  These trends 
were considered in the establishment of the Company's reserves at December 31, 2004.

The Company has not changed its original estimate for the loss sustained as a result of the terrorist attacks of September 11, 2001.  
Therefore, there is no impact on the loss developments shown in the above table except for payments against the original established 
reserves.  The Company has paid $10.9 million to date and carries a remaining reserve of $9.1 million at December 31, 2004.

The Company participates in mandatory residual market pools in various states.  The Company records the results from participation 
in these pools as the information is reported to the Company and also records an additional provision in the financial statements for 
operating periods unreported by the pools.  

Loss reserves on certain permanent total disability workers’ compensation reserves have been discounted to present value at pre-tax 
rates not exceeding 3.5%.  At December 31, 2004 and 2003, loss reserves have been reduced by approximately $3,932 and $5,549, 
respectively.  Discounting is applied to these claims since the amount of periodic payments to be made during the lifetime of claim-
ants is fixed and determinable.

Loss reserves have been reduced by estimated salvage and subrogation recoverable of approximately $3,462 and $3,490 at December 
31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL 
CONDITION AND THE RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (CONTINUED)

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

2004 Compared to 2003

Direct premiums written for 2004 totaled $237.1 million, an increase of $21.5 million (10%) from 2003.  This 
increase is primarily attributable to an increase in fleet trucking liability premiums of $16.7 million (15%) from 
2003 levels.  Direct premium writings from the Company's independent contractor program also increased by $7.2 
million (18%).  These increases were partially offset by decreases in the Company's private passenger automobile, 
small business workers' compensation and small fleet trucking programs of $1.4 million (3%), $.6 million (6%) 
and $.4 million (3%), respectively.  Large trucking fleet volume increased primarily from the addition of new ac-
counts during 2004, increased revenues from renewal accounts and, to a lesser degree, premium rate increases.  
The higher premium volume from the independent contractor program resulted from the addition of contractors 
by existing accounts.  Increased competitive pressures are responsible for the decline in premium volume from 
the Sagamore personal automobile and small fleet trucking programs.  The decline in small business workers' 
compensation premium resulted from management's decision to discontinue marketing this business during the 
fourth quarter of 2004.

Premiums assumed from other insurers and reinsurers totaled $8.7 million during 2004, a decrease of $2.4 million 
(21%) from 2003 reflecting the discontinuance of a single large program for which renewal pricing was not con-
sidered to be favorable.  Premium volume from reinsurance assumed will fluctuate depending on the favorability 
of pricing for the coverages provided.  Further, premium volume for this segment is limited by the Company’s 
self-imposed limitation to loss from a single catastrophic event.

Premiums ceded to reinsurers increased $5.1 million (7%) during 2004 to $78.6 million.  However, the consolidated 
percentage of premiums ceded to direct premiums written decreased to 33% for 2004 from 34% for 2003.  This 
decrease is reflective of the Company's increased exposure under reinsurance treaties effective in 2003 and 2004 
covering large fleet trucking risks.  The Company's maximum retained loss under these treaties has increased over 
the last two years and, as a result, a lower percentage of the direct premiums are ceded to reinsurers.  There were 
no other significant changes to reinsurance treaties during 2004.

After giving effect to changes in unearned premiums, net premiums earned increased 18% to $172.1 million for 
2004 from $146.2 million for 2003.  Excluding inter-company reinsurance arrangements, net premiums earned 
from all trucking-related insurance products increased by $21.7 million (24%).  Net premiums earned from the 
Company's private passenger automobile and small workers' compensation programs also increased $3.4 million 
(9%) and $1.9 million (31%), respectively.  These increases were partially offset by a decrease in net premium 
earned from non-affiliated reinsurance assumed of $1.3 million (12%) from 2003.

Net investment income decreased $.6 million (5%) during 2004 reflecting lower overall pre-tax yields while aver-
age invested assets increased 11%.  The average pre-tax yield on invested assets dropped to 2.9% this year from 
3.3% during 2003 (13%).  The decline in yields occurred entirely within the bond portfolio which averaged 3.2% 
during 2004 compared to 3.9% last year.  A portion of this decline in pre-tax yield is attributable to the increased 
use of tax-exempt bonds during 2004.  Yields on equity securities and short-term investments increased to 3.3% 
and 1.2%, respectively, from 3.1% and 1.0%, respectively, during 2003, partially offsetting the decline in bond 
yields.  After-tax yields were 2.2% and 2.4% for 2004 and 2003, respectively.  As discussed in the Liquidity and 
Capital Resources section, the Company has maintained its bond portfolio at an increasingly short-term level 
during the past several years as long-term interest rates were not considered to be sufficient to commit funds for 
extended periods.  Increases in short-term rates during 2004 did not have a dramatic impact on longer-term rates, 
providing no incentive to lengthen maturities.  Consequently, the average yield on maturing bonds exceeded the 
reinvestment rate during 2004 as shorter-term instruments were utilized in anticipation of more dramatic increases 
in long-term rates in 2005 and beyond. 

Realized net capital gains were $9.8 million in 2004 compared to gains of $10.0 million for 2003.  The current 
year’s net gain consisted of gains on equity securities of $8.5 million, gains on fixed maturities of $1.9 million, 
and losses on other investments of $.6 million.  Capital gains for the current year include a net gain of $1.2 million 

Note D - Income Taxes (continued)
A summary of the difference between federal income tax expense computed at the statutory rate and that reported in the consolidated 
financial statements is as follows:

Cash flows related to federal income taxes paid, net of refunds received, for 2004, 2003 and 2002 were $14,865, $14,100 and $7,250, 
respectively, including Section 847 special tax deposits.  Future tax benefits on approximately $7,828 of deferred tax assets at De-
cember 31, 2004 arising from loss reserve discounting are assured based on Section 847 of the Internal Revenue Code.

The Company is required to establish a valuation allowance for any portion of the gross deferred tax asset that management believes 
will not be realized.  Management has determined that no such valuation allowance is necessary at December 31, 2004.

2004 2003 2002
Statutory federal income rate applied to
   pretax income $   15,396 $   17,162 $    6,240 
Tax effect of (deduction):
   Tax-exempt investment income (1,440) (1,174) (1,081)
   Other (273) (30) 305 

Federal income tax expense $   13,683 $   15,958 $    5,464 

Federal income tax expense consists of the following:
2004 2003 2002

Taxes (credits) on pre-tax income:
   Current $   14,624 $   16,701 $   8,139 
   Deferred (941) (743) (2,675)

$   13,683 $   15,958 $   5,464 

The components of the provision for deferred federal income taxes (credits) are as follows:

2004 2003 2002
Discounts of loss and loss expense reserves $   (2,336) $   (1,179) $     (256)
Other than temporary investment declines 435  514   (1,804)
Limited partnerships 97 (44) (351)
Unearned premium disallowance 255 (557) (354)
Deferred compensation 882 (41) (28)
Other (274) 564 118 

   Provision for deferred federal income tax $     (941) $     (743) $   (2,675)

Note E - Reinsurance
The insurance subsidiaries cede portions of their gross premiums written to certain other insurers under excess and quota share treaties 
and by facultative placements.  Risks are reinsured with other companies to permit the recovery of a portion of related direct losses.  
The Company also serves as an assuming reinsurer under retrocessions from certain other reinsurers.  These retrocessions include 
individual risks but are comprised primarily of high layer catastrophe treaties.  Accordingly, the occurrence of a major catastrophic 
event can have a significant impact on the Company's operations.  In addition, the insurance subsidiaries participate in certain in-
voluntary reinsurance pools which require insurance companies to provide coverages on assigned risks.  The assigned risk pools 
allocate participation to all insurers based upon each insurer’s portion of premium writings on a state or national level.  Historically, 
the operation of these assigned risk pools have resulted in net losses allocated to the Company although such losses have generally 
not been material in relation to the Company’s direct and voluntary assumed operations.

Detail with respect to direct premiums and premiums assumed from and ceded to other insurers and reinsurers is as follows:

Premiums Written Premiums Earned
2004 2003 2002 2004 2003 2002

Direct $   237,130 $   215,576 $  164,662 $   240,111 $   208,282 $  160,035 
Assumed 9,969 12,038 8,632 10,559 11,547 8,147 
Ceded (78,596)  (73,501)  (63,841)  (78,525)  (73,676)  (63,790)

Net $   168,503 $   154,113 $    109,453 $   172,145 $   146,153 $  104,392 
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The primary sources of the Company’s liquidity are (1) funds generated from insurance operations including net 
investment income, (2) proceeds from the sale of investments and (3) proceeds from maturing investments.  The 
Company generally experiences positive cash flow resulting from the fact that premiums are collected on insur-
ance policies in advance of the disbursement of funds in payment of claims.  Operating costs of the insurance 
subsidiaries, other than loss and loss expense payments, generally average less than 30% of premiums earned on 
a consolidated basis and the remaining amount is available for investment for varying periods of time depending 
on the type of insurance coverage provided.  Because losses are often settled in periods different from when they 
are incurred, at times, operating cash flows may turn negative as loss settlements on claim reserves established 
in prior years exceed net premium revenue and receipts of investment income.  During 2004, positive cash flow 
from operations totaled $72.3 million compared to $56.9 million in 2003, generally in line with the increase in 
net premium earned during 2004.

For several years, the Company’s investment philosophy has emphasized the purchase of short-term bonds with 
maximum quality and liquidity.  As interest rates have declined and yield curves have not provided a strong incen-
tive to lengthen maturities in recent years, the Company has maintained and, during 2004, increased its short-term 
position with respect to the vast majority of its fixed maturity investments in anticipation of rate increases expected 
to occur in 2005.  The average life of the Company’s bond and short-term investment portfolio was 2.2 years and 
2.8 years at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.  The Company also remains an active participant in the 
equity securities market using capital which is not considered necessary to fund current operations.  The long-
term horizon for the Company’s equity investments allows it to invest in positions where ultimate value, and not 
short-term market fluctuation, is the primary focus.  Investments made by the Company’s domestic insurance 
subsidiaries are regulated by guidelines promulgated by the National Association of Insurance Commissioners 
which are designed to provide protection for both policyholders and shareholders.

The Company’s assets at December 31, 2004 included $97.2 million in short-term and cash equivalent investments 
which are readily convertible to cash without market penalty and an additional $144.9 million of fixed income 
investments (at par) maturing in less than one year.  The Company believes that these liquid investments, plus the 
expected cash flow from current operations, are more than sufficient to provide for projected claim payments and 
operating cost demands.  In the event competitive conditions produce inadequate premium rates and the Company 
chooses to restrict volume, the liquidity of its investment portfolio would permit it to continue to pay claims as 
settlements are reached without requiring the disposal of investments at a loss, regardless of interest rates in effect 
at the time.  In addition, the Company’s reinsurance program is structured to avoid serious cash drains that might 
accompany catastrophic losses.

Net premiums written by the Company’s U.S. insurance subsidiaries for 2004 equaled approximately 41% of the 
combined statutory surplus of these subsidiaries.  Premium writings of 200% to 300% of surplus are generally 
considered acceptable by regulatory authorities.  Further, the statutory capital of each of the insurance subsidiar-
ies substantially exceeds minimum risk based capital requirements set by the National Association of Insurance 
Commissioners.  Accordingly, the Company has the ability to significantly increase its business without seeking 
additional capital to meet regulatory guidelines.

As more fully discussed in Note F to the consolidated financial statements, at December 31, 2004, $79.2 million, 
or 24% of shareholders’ equity, represented net assets of the Company’s insurance subsidiaries which, at that time, 
could not be transferred in the form of dividends, loans or advances to the parent company because of minimum 
statutory capital requirements.  However, management believes that these restrictions pose no material liquidity 
concerns for the Company.  The financial strength and stability of the subsidiaries permit ready access by the par-
ent company to short-term and long-term sources of credit.  The Company has no long-term debt outstanding at 
December 31, 2004.  Short-term borrowing totaled $6.0 million at December 31, 2004.

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL 
CONDITION AND THE RESULTS OF OPERATIONSNote E - Reinsurance (continued)

Net losses and loss expenses incurred for 2004, 2003 and 2002 have been reduced by ceded reinsurance recoveries of approximately 
$103,730, $96,812 and $60,055, respectively.  Net losses and loss expenses incurred for 2004, 2003 and 2002 include approximately 
$6,349, $5,732 and $5,160 relating to reinsurance assumed from non-affiliated insurance or reinsurance companies.  Ceded rein-
surance premiums and loss recoveries for catastrophe reinsurance contracts were not material.  The Company remains liable to the 
extent the reinsuring companies are unable to meet their obligations under reinsurance contracts.

Components of reinsurance recoverable at December 31 are as follows:
2004 2003

Unpaid losses and loss expenses $  233,035 $  180,025 
Paid losses and loss expenses 3,253 5,326 
Unearned premiums 178 106 

$  236,466 $  185,457 

The Company's Class A and Class B common stock has a stated value of approximately $.04 per share.

Shareholders’ equity at December 31, 2004 includes $322,999 representing GAAP shareholder’s equity of insurance subsidiaries, of 
which $47,837 may be transferred by dividend or loan to the parent company with proper notification to, but without approval from, 
regulatory authorities.  An additional $196,018 of shareholder’s equity of such insurance subsidiaries may be advanced or loaned to 
the parent company with prior notification to and approval from regulatory authorities.

Net income of the insurance subsidiaries, as determined in accordance with statutory accounting practices, was $19,941, $22,851 
and $10,318 for 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.  Consolidated statutory shareholder’s equity for these subsidiaries was $319,436 
and $304,651 at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.  Minimum statutory surplus necessary for the insurance subsidiaries to 
satisfy statutory risk based capital requirements was $73,157 at December 31, 2004.

Note F - Shareholders' Equity
Changes in common stock outstanding and additional paid-in capital are as follows 

Additional
Class A Class B Paid-in

Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital
Balance at January 1, 2002 2,847,382 $ 121 12,252,415 $ 523 $ 36,272 
   Stock options issued - - - - 134 
   Stock options exercised - - 7,110 - 2 
   Fractional share adjustment from stock split (37) - (48) - - 
   Treasury shares purchased (180,679) (7) (376,664) (16) (1,160)
Balance at December 31, 2002 2,666,666 114 11,882,813 507 35,248 
   Stock options issued - - - - 142 
   Stock options exercised - - 41,541 2 29 
Balance at December 31, 2003 2,666,666 114 11,924,354 509 35,419 
   Stock options issued - - - - 256 
   Stock options exercised - - 131,770 5 1,408 

Balance at December 31, 2004 2,666,666 $ 114 12,056,124 $ 514 $ 37,083 

Note G - Other Operating Expenses
Details of other operating expenses for the years ended December 31:

2004 2003 2002
Amortization of deferred policy acquisition costs $  16,946 $  15,667 $  12,072 
Other underwriting expenses 18,115 18,329 14,158 
Expense allowances from reinsurers (20,458) (20,099) (17,641)

Total underwriting expenses 14,603 13,897 8,589 

Operating expenses of non-insurance companies 16,443 16,580 13,604 

Total other operating expenses $  31,046 $  30,477 $  22,193 
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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

1  Earnings and book value per share are adjusted for the dilutive effect of stock options outstanding.

2  All per share amounts have been adjusted for the five-for-four stock split effective February 17, 2003.  2004 and 2003 include 
extra dividends of $1.65 and $.25 per share, respectively.

3  Includes money market instruments classified with cash in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

4  Data is for all coverages combined, does not include fee income and is presented based upon generally accepted accounting 
principles.

5  Includes $20,000 relating to the events of September 11, 2001.

Year Ended December 31
2004 2003 2002 2001 2000

(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)

Direct and assumed premiums written $ 247,099 $ 227,614 $ 173,294 $ 120,308 $ 101,390 

Net premiums earned 172,145 146,153 104,392 83,138 77,439 

Net investment income 12,287 12,873 14,964 17,626 19,049 

Realized net gains (losses) on investments 9,770 9,990 (16,445) 5,053 12,473 

Losses and loss expenses incurred 126,298 95,738 68,107 81,870 5 57,470 

Net income 30,306 33,075 12,366 5,390 19,750 

Net income per share 1, 2 2.05 2.25 .84 .35 1.26 

Cash dividends per share 2 2.05 .65 .32 .32 .32 

Investment portfolio 3 577,428 515,843 448,520 439,434 442,060 

Total assets 868,563 769,857 644,462 601,109 552,164 

Shareholders' equity 326,548 324,574 284,588 288,360 294,000 

Cost of treasury shares purchased - -  8,978  2,154  17,018 

Book value per share 1, 2 22.04 22.00 19.43 18.98 19.21 

Underwriting ratios 4

   Losses and loss expenses 73.4% 65.5% 65.2% 98.5% 74.2%

   Underwriting expenses 24.0% 26.5% 26.1% 24.3% 28.1%

   Combined 97.4% 92.0% 91.3% 122.8% 102.3%

Note H - Earnings Per Share
The following is a reconciliation of the denominators used in the calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share for the years 
ended December 31:

No effect on net income was considered to result from the presumed exercise of the options used in calculating diluted earnings per 
share.  Certain market value options, granted in 1997, were included in the computation of diluted earnings per share for 2004 and 
2003.  These market value options were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share for 2002 because the exercise 
price during that year was greater than the average market price of the Company's stock.

2004 2003 2002

Average shares outstanding for basic earnings per share  14,641,300  14,562,310  14,609,727 

Dilutive effect of options  147,824  135,659  104,168 

Average shares outstanding for diluted earnings per share  14,789,124  14,697,969  14,713,895 

Note I - Stock Purchase and Option Plans
In accordance with the terms of the 1981 Stock Purchase Plan (1981 Plan), the Company is obligated to repurchase shares issued 
under the 1981 Plan, at a price equal to 90% of the book value of the shares at the end of the quarter immediately preceding the date 
of repurchase.  No shares have ever been repurchased under the 1981 Plan.  At December 31, 2004 there were 160,847 shares (Class 
A) and 439,708 shares (Class B) outstanding which are eligible for repurchase by the Company.

The Company maintains stock option plans and has reserved an aggregate of 1,312,500 shares of Class B common stock for the grant-
ing of stock options to employees and directors.  No options were granted to employees during the three year period ended December 
31, 2004.  All employee options outstanding at December 31, 2004 are exercisable.  Options granted to directors are generally not 
exercisable for one year from the date of grant.   All discounted options expire ten years after the date of grant.  Market value options 
granted to directors as part of their regular annual directors' fees expire seven years after the date of grant.  All of the Company's 
option plans have received shareholder approval.  Approximately 303,000 of such options are available for future grants.

A summary of the Company's stock option activity and related information for the years ended December 31 follows:

The fair value of the market value options granted during 2004 was determined using a Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing model with 
the following assumptions: risk-free interest rate of 1.0%; dividend yield of 1.6%; volatility factor of the expected market price of the 
Company's common stock of .30; and an expected life of the option of 7 years.  During 2004, the Company recorded expense, net of federal 
income tax, of $53 for these market value options using the straight-line method based upon a one-year vesting period.

2004 2003 2002
 Weighted  Weighted  Weighted 
 Average  Average  Average 
 Exercise  Exercise  Exercise 

 Options  Price  Options  Price  Options  Price 

Outstanding at beginning of year  655,561 $    18.36  690,162 $    17.48  689,776 $  17.48 

Granted:
   At exercise prices below market  7,898 1.00  6,938 .95  7,496 .80 
   At exercise prices at market  15,000 26.00 -  - - -
Exercised  131,770 10.72  41,539 .74  7,110 .30 

Outstanding at end of year  546,689 18.36  655,561 18.36  690,162 17.48 

Exercisable at end of year  523,791 20.28  648,623 18.54  682,666 17.66 

Weighted average fair value
   of options granted during the year:
   At exercise prices below market  7,898 25.71  6,938 20.54  7,496 17.93 
   At exercise prices at market  15,000 4.70 - - - -



past several years.  In 2002, pre-tax investment income fell 15.1% from the prior year.  In 2003, it dropped another 
14%.  This year it declined only 4.5%,  and most of that decline can be attributed to a shift to more tax-exempt 
investments, as witnessed by the after tax investment income declining only 1.2% from 2003.   Positive cash flow of 
$72 million mostly offset the fact that maturing investments were still reinvested at lower yields, in spite of the fact 
that we already had a very short duration fixed income portfolio.  As yields are now slowly increasing, especially at 
the short end of the curve, and with continuing expected positive cash flow, 2005 will surely be the year that invest-
ment income will stop declining, and might be expected to add additional amounts to overall income.  An increase 
of 50 basis points in after tax yield would increase the Company’s pre-tax income by almost $3.7 million, and its net 
income by $.16 a share.

Those familiar with the Company know that compared to the average property/casualty insurance company, we 
invest a higher percentage of assets in equities.  With a very low premium to surplus level, and with operations that 
consistently produce higher than average underwriting profits, we believe our larger investment in equities prudently 
allows the possibility of greater overall investment returns.  That strategy worked again in 2004, as our 12.0% total 
return on equity investments exceeded the S&P 500 index total return of 10.9%.  Our selected investment managers 
have, for six straight years, recorded results that have allowed our investment in equities to do better than the S&P 
index.  We expect that to continue.

Before concluding this letter, I should comment on the subject of dividends and specifically the dividends paid by the 
Company in 2004.  The amount of dividends paid by the Company the past two years, and especially in 2004, was 
probably not expected by shareholders.  Judging by the responses received, the payments came as a pleasant surprise 
to many.  As dividend payments were considered, as they are at each board of directors meeting, tax rates that cur-
rently allow dividends and capital gains to an individual to be taxed at 15%, while dividends to a corporation are still 
taxed at roughly 30% and capital gains at 35%, were noted.   Mindful of the Company’s results and capital needs, the 
payment of dividends, allowing shareholders a meaningful cash return on investment with the ability to invest that 
return at tax rates more favorable than the Company’s, was believed to be a fair and correct action for shareholders.  
In 2003, cash dividends were 65 cents.  Dividends of $2.05 were paid in 2004, representing an in the pocket yield 
of 8.2% on a stock price of $25.00.  An extra and regular dividend payment totaling 25 cents per share was paid on 
March 1, 2005, the sixth consecutive quarter in which extra dividends above the 10-cent regular quarterly rate have 
been paid.  A certain amount of dividends, or a certain payout percentage, should not be expected by shareholders. 
We are following no set formula for dividend payments.  As has been done each quarter, the subject of dividends will 
be addressed by the board of directors at each future quarterly meeting with consideration of the Company’s earn-
ings, returns on investments and its capital needs.

As always, I would like to thank my fellow employees for their dedication, perseverance and hard work.  You are 
good at what you do and you make operating in a difficult industry look much easier than it is.  Your good work, 
along with the experience and stability that a long tenured workforce provides, serves the Company well.  The Com-
pany also enjoys supportive shareholders.  This support allows us to manage the business in a prudent, responsible 
manner, focusing on long-term performance.  That we appreciate, and we shall strive not to disappoint.
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Gary W. Miller
Chairman & CEO

Note I - Stock Purchase and Option Plans (continued)
Exercise prices for options outstanding as of December 31, 2004 were $.80, $1.00, $20.60 or $26.00.  The weighted-average remain-
ing contractual lives of options exercisable at $.80 and $1.00 are 4.0 years and 9.4 years, respectively.  The remaining contractual 
lives of options exercisable at $20.60 and $26.00 are 3 years and 6.3 years, respectively.  Discounted options are granted to non-
employee directors in lieu of directors' fees.  In addition, during 2004, non-employee directors were each granted 1,500 options at 
market value on the date of grant.  The compensation cost that has been charged against income for all stock-based compensation 
plans, consisting of directors' fees only, was $256, $143 and $134 for 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

During 2002 and 2001, the Company offered loans to certain employees for the sole purpose of purchasing the Company's Class 
B common stock in the open market.  $2,514 and $4,828 of such full-recourse loans were issued and outstanding at December 31, 
2004 and 2003, respectively, and carry interest rates ranging from 4.75% to 6%, payable annually on the loan anniversary date.  The 
underlying securities serve as collateral for these loans, which must be repaid no later than 10 years from the date of issue.  This 
loan program was terminated in 2002.

Note J - Note Payable
During 2004, the Company borrowed $6,000 under lines of credit established with banks, all of which was outstanding at December 
31, 2004.  The average annual interest rate on these borrowings is 3.26% and repayment is due prior to September, 2005.  The car-
rying amount of these borrowings approximates fair value.

Note K - Employee Benefit Plans
The Company maintains a defined contribution 401(k) Employee Savings and Profit Sharing Plan ("the Plan") which covers all em-
ployees who have completed one year of service.  The Company's contributions to the Plan for 2004, 2003 and 2002 were $1,053, 
$978 and $864, respectively.

Note L  - Reportable Segments
The Company and its consolidated subsidiaries market and underwrite casualty insurance in five major specialty areas (reportable 
segments): (1) fleet trucking, (2) nonstandard private passenger automobile, (3) small fleet trucking, (4) the assumption of reinsur-
ance and (5) small business workers' compensation.  The fleet trucking segment provides multiple line insurance coverage to large 
trucking fleets which generally retain substantial amounts of self-insurance and to medium-sized trucking fleets on a first dollar or 
small deductible basis.  The nonstandard private passenger automobile segment provides motor vehicle liability and physical dam-
age coverages to individuals.  The small fleet trucking segment provides commercial automobile coverages to small trucking fleets 
and owner/operators.  The reinsurance assumed segment accepts retrocessions from selected reinsurance companies, principally 
reinsuring against catastrophes.  The small business workers' compensation segment provides workers' compensation coverages to 
small businesses and other entities.

The Company's reportable segments are business units that operate in the property/casualty insurance industry and each offers 
products to different classes of customers.  The reportable segments are managed separately due to the differences in underwriting 
criteria used to market products to each class of customer and the methods of  distribution of the products each reportable segment 
provides.  Segment information shown in the table below as "all other" includes products provided by the Company to assigned risks 
and residual markets as well as the runoff of discontinued product lines.

The Company evaluates performance and allocates resources based on gain or loss from insurance underwriting operations before 
income taxes.  Underwriting gain or loss does not include net investment income or realized gains or losses on the Company's 
investment portfolio.  All investment-related revenues are managed at the corporate level.  Underwriting gain or loss for the fleet 
trucking segment includes revenue and expense from the Company's agency operations since the agency operations serve as an 
exclusive direct marketing facility for this segment.  Underwriting gain or loss also includes fee income generated by each segment 
in the course of its underwriting operations.  Management does not identify or allocate assets to reportable segments when evalu-
ating segment performance and depreciation expense is not material for any of the reportable segments.  The accounting policies 
of each reportable segment are the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting policies.  Based upon these 
performance criteria, the Company placed the small business workers' compensation segment in runoff status effective during the 
fourth quarter of 2004.

TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS . . .



With this product, only a small percentage of the losses incurred are actually paid in the first year or two.  There-
fore, the loss side of the combined ratio is composed mostly of reserves that are estimates of ultimate costs.  Since 
the Company now retains more net exposure, there are more net reserves today than in the recent past.  Historically 
the Company’s net claim reserves have consistently been more than adequate.  Should such favorable development 
continue, any future savings on today’s reserves, as claims are paid, will  add to future income.

More retained risk and premium, and increased trucking revenues, should equate to more net premium volume; 
and it has through 2004.  However, when the market begins to soften, as new companies enter and others attempt 
to expand with perhaps an unwise focus on top line growth, some business may be lost.  We have seen significant 
growth in this product the past few years with net premium earned having increased 155% since 2001 and 25% last 
year.  The growth came as we priced and marketed our product in a responsible manner.  That responsible approach 
will continue.

Our subsidiary Sagamore Insurance Company had a record year, even with the losses in its workers’ compensation 
product.  That now discontinued product’s results were more than offset by the successful year of the personal auto 
division.  Personal auto operated at a 93% combined ratio.   We do not include fee income, such as policy fees and 
installment fees, in our combined ratio calculation.  If those fees were included in the calculation, as many other 
companies do, personal auto’s combined ratio would have fallen to a rarely seen 86.5%.  About $42 million in 
personal auto premium was earned by Sagamore last year.  Policies are currently sold in 26 states with meaningful 
volume coming from just eight of those states.  The profitability now enjoyed by this division allows the obvious 
goal of increasing the number of significant production states and thereby increasing overall volume.  However, 
when new volume is written in quantity, we cannot expect the new volume to be as profitable as the old, for a loss 
ratio on new policies is generally higher than that on seasoned business.   Yet, with disciplined pricing and selection 
techniques, some profit should be expected.  The product’s overall combined ratio will likely rise with the addition 
of new business that will probably carry a  higher loss ratio, even though the expense ratio should decline with fixed 
expenses being spread over a larger base.  Yet, even with the expected higher combined ratio, the goal is to produce 
greater volume with more profit dollars on the bottom line.

The non-standard auto market is also seeing increasing competition with resultant market softening, which might 
be expected as participants are generally profitable and now strive to gain market share.  Increasing volume and 
profitably in such a market is challenging.  For the past couple of years, we have been perfecting a new product 
offering we titled “Lowpay Insurance.”  In the non-standard auto market, the customer is generally very interested 
in the amount of the down payment (how much cash is required to make the policy effective) and the amount of 
subsequent installment payments.   The amount of down payments and installments may be even more important to 
the prospective insured than the amount of the total policy premium.  Lowpay Insurance uses the latest in technol-
ogy for point of sale rating, quoting and binding with all data being transmitted via the Internet.  This efficiency, 
combined with a different billing approach, allows us to offer the lowest in down payments and installments.  In the 
fourth quarter of 2004, Lowpay Insurance, coupled with an innovative sales promotion, was introduced in a test state 
that previously produced minimal volume.  At this writing, nine weeks into 2005, that test state is now producing 
the highest weekly number of new policies for any state where we sell Sagamore’s personal auto insurance.   To this 
point, that sales volume and all other test results, including loss experience, remain encouraging, although I remind 
readers of my comments regarding loss ratios on new policies.  We are expanding the Lowpay Insurance product 
test to additional states.

Favorable combined ratios produce underwriting profits.  We believe that is certainly one important measure of 
well run insurance companies.  However, combined ratios tell only part of the story of operations and earnings.  
Investment income accounted for $12.3 million of the 2004 pre-tax operating income of $34.2 million.  We made 
progress last year with investment income, but continue to struggle with the low yield environment seen for the 
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TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS . . . Note L - Reportable Segments (continued)
The following table provides certain profit and loss information for each reportable segment for the years ended December 31:

For 2004 and 2003, the above amounts for voluntary reinsurance assumed include certain intersegment reinsurance agreements.  
Intersegment premiums earned during 2004 and 2003 were $1,609 and $1,239, respectively.  Intersegment losses and loss expenses 
incurred during 2004 and 2003 were $1,270 and $1,357, respectively.  

The following tables are reconciliations of reportable segment revenues and profits  to the Company’s consolidated revenue and 
income before federal income taxes, respectively.

2004 2003 2002
Direct and assumed premium written:

Fleet trucking  $172,406  $148,482  $112,355 
Non-standard private passenger automobile  40,976  42,342  35,466 
Small fleet trucking  14,689  15,086  10,514 
Voluntary reinsurance assumed  8,740  11,121  8,128 
Small business workers' compensation  9,058  9,665  6,321 
All Other  1,230  918  510 

Totals  $247,099  $227,614  $173,294 

Net premium earned and fee income:
Fleet trucking  $103,624  $82,545  $55,145 
Non-standard private passenger automobile  44,671  40,695  33,754 
Small fleet trucking  10,440  9,301  8,316 
Voluntary reinsurance assumed  11,070  11,994  7,739 
Small business workers' compensation  8,046  6,132  3,535 
All Other  1,095  806 414 

Totals  $178,946  $151,473  $108,903 

Underwriting gain (loss)
Fleet trucking  $25,783  $29,778  $22,718 
Non-standard private passenger automobile  6,052  4,476  2,527 
Small fleet trucking  360  123  1,340 
Voluntary reinsurance assumed  2,545  3,463  1,586 
Small business workers' compensation  (1,955)  (1,830) 157 
All Other  (1,247) 213  (619)

Totals  $31,538  $36,223  $27,709 

The Company, through its subsidiaries, is licensed to do business in all 50 states of the United States, all Canadian provinces and 
Bermuda.  Canadian and Bermuda operations are currently not significant.

2004 2003 2002
Revenue:

Net premium earned and fee income  $    178,946  $   151,473  $      108,903 
Net investment income  12,287  12,873  14,964 
Realized net gains (losses) on investments  9,770  9,990  (16,445)
Other income 330 912 708 

Total consolidated revenue  $    201,333  $   175,248  $      108,130 

Profit:
Underwriting gain (loss)  $      31,538  $     36,223  $        27,709 
Net investment income  12,287  12,873  14,964 
Realized net gains (losses) on investments  9,770  9,990  (16,445)
Corporate expenses  (9,606)  (10,053)  (8,398)

Income before federal income taxes  $      43,989  $     49,033  $        17,830 



The year 2004 ended with the second best operating results in the Company’s history.  We continued to grow, 
with our net earned premium increasing 18% for the year.  Operating profitability was healthy with a consolidated 
combined ratio of 97.4% for our insurance subsidiaries, producing an underwriting gain of $4.4 million.  Adding 
agency profits and fee income, pre-tax operating income, not including investment income, was just short of $22 
million.  Cash flow was strong at $72 million positive.  Capital gains of nearly $10 million were realized during the 
year while unrealized gains and losses hardly changed. Our equity investments once again outperformed the S&P 
500 Index.

As stated, the year 2004 was “second” best.  Net income declined slightly from record 2003 results.  We earned 
$1.62 per share from operations versus $1.81 in the prior year.  The dip in income occurred as projected claim costs 
for our fleet trucking products increased, southeast third quarter hurricanes caused claims for our reinsurance as-
sumed coverages and non-profitability in the small business workers compensation product continued.

We decided to discontinue the small business workers compensation product written by Sagamore Insurance Com-
pany.  We attempted to build a sustainable business with the product for several years.  Loss ratios were satisfactory 
early on, but difficulty persisted in writing enough business to cause a reasonable expense ratio.  Our attempt to 
expand a small book of business by broadening offerings of class and territory resulted in the loss ratio deteriorating, 
which more than offset the positive impact of higher volume on the expense ratio.   With the continuing problems 
of medical cost inflation, fewer small employers furnishing health insurance, which we found tended to put pressure 
on employees to find work-related reasons for some medical problems, and renewed price competition, the game 
no longer appeared worth the admission price.  We began an orderly cessation of business, in the form of writing no 
new policies and allowing in force policies to expire without renewal, beginning in the fourth quarter of 2004.

We reported an estimated loss from the southeast hurricanes of the third quarter at $5 million.  Even with that 
estimate, which still appears accurate, total 2004 results for our reinsurance assumed product were profitable with a 
77% combined ratio.

Fleet trucking written by Protective Insurance Co. is the biggest and remains the core product for our Company.  
It consists of high limit casualty excess insurance above a client’s self-insured retention, which may be as low as 
$25,000 or as much as $3 million per occurrence.   We are one of the top specialists in this field, with many years 
and billions of miles of accident and loss statistics contained in our database.  That database is proprietary and 
unique, and we believe that very few, if any, other insurers possess similar rating information.  Coupled with this rat-
ing expertise is an unmatched level of experience in handling large trucking claims.  The seasoned experience of our 
claims staff contributes to the best of claim outcomes, but it also has shown us that, in 2004, the cost of the larger, 
more severe claims continued to escalate at a rate that outpaced general inflation.  During the past few years, the 
Company has purchased less reinsurance for fleet trucking exposures and has retained more net risk.  As claim costs 
continue to increase, and as we conservatively estimate those costs for the increased net exposure, the product’s 
profitability has declined with the combined ratio increasing from 90.2% last year to 98.1% in 2004.

Despite these challenges, we are optimistic that the results for this product will improve.  When claim costs increase, 
negatively influencing earnings, actions are required that increase premiums and/or reduce those claim costs.   Such 
actions will be selective and will include a continued emphasis on risk selection, loss prevention and proper pricing.  
Clients with adverse experience may elect larger self-insured retentions to keep premium increases to a minimum.  
Blanket rate increases are not likely in today’s marketplace, but since premiums for our products are calculated as 
a percentage of the client’s trucking revenues, and since truckers in general are raising prices and improving their 
revenue per mile, even level premium rates should result in more premium earned with lesser increase in exposure.
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TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS . . .Note L - Reportable Segments (continued)
One customer of the fleet trucking segment represents approximately $57,767, $47,693 and $39,359 of the Company’s consolidated 
direct and assumed premium written in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Note M - Concentrations of Credit Risk
The Company writes policies of excess insurance attaching above a self-insured retention ("SIR") and also writes policies that con-
tain large, per-claim deductibles.  Those losses and claims that fall within the SIR or deductible are obligations of the insured. The 
Company also writes surety bonds in favor of various regulatory agencies guaranteeing the insured’s payment of claims within the 
SIR.  Losses and claims under a large deductible policy are payable by the Company with reimbursement due the Company from 
the insured.  The Company requires collateral from its insureds to serve as a source of reimbursement if the Company is obligated to 
pay claims within the SIR by reason of an insured’s default or if the insured fails to reimburse the Company for deductible amounts 
paid by the Company. 

Acceptable collateral may be provided in the form of letters of credit on Company approved banks, Company approved marketable 
securities or cash.  At December 31, 2004, the Company held collateral in the aggregate amount of $216,317.  The amount of collateral 
required of an insured is determined by the financial condition of the insured, the type of obligations guaranteed by the Company, 
estimated reserves for incurred losses within the SIR or deductible that have been reported to the insured or the Company, estimated 
incurred but not reported losses, and estimates for losses that are expected to occur, within the SIR or deductible, prior to the next 
collateral adjustment date.  In general, the Company attempts to hold collateral equal to 100% of the ultimate losses that would be 
paid by or due the Company in the event of the insured’s default.  Periodic audits are conducted by the Company to evaluate its 
exposure and the collateral required.  If a deficiency in collateral is noted as the result of an audit, additional collateral is requested 
immediately.  Because collateral amounts contain numerous estimates of the Company’s exposure, are adjusted only periodically 
and are sometimes adjusted based on the financial condition of the insured, the amount of collateral held by the Company at a given 
point in time may not be sufficient to fully reimburse the Company for all of its guarantees or amounts due in the event of an insured’s 
default.  Further, the Company is not fully collateralized for the guarantees made for, or the deductible amounts that may be due 
from, the Company’s largest customer, and in the event of that customer’s default, such default may have a material adverse impact 
on the Company.  The Company estimates its uncollateralized exposure related to this Fortune 500 company to be as much as 30% 
of shareholders' equity at December 31, 2004 .

In addition, the Company has recorded paid and unpaid amounts recoverable from reinsurers under various agreements totaling 
$236,288 at December 31, 2004, as more fully discussed in Note E - Reinsurance.  With minor exception, these recoverables are 
uncollateralized.  Estimated amounts recoverable from four reinsurers in the group, each exceeding 10% of the total amount recover-
able from all reinsurers, totaled $113,544 at December 31, 2004.

Note N - Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited)
Quarterly results of operations are as follows:

Results by Quarter
2004 2003

1st 2nd 3rd 4th 1st 2nd 3rd 4th

Net premiums earned $35,497 $43,403 $44,384 $48,861 $31,701 $36,960 $37,513 $39,979 
Net investment income 3,172 3,008 2,958 3,149 3,373 3,124 2,987 3,389 
Realized net gains (losses) on investments 5,818 2,290 27 1,635 (2,452) 5,739 2,048 4,655 
Losses and loss expenses incurred 25,246 29,735 36,923 1 34,394 20,511 23,900 24,411 26,916 

Net income 10,899 8,864 3,460 1 7,083 4,532 10,301 8,122 10,120 

Per share - diluted:
   Income before realized 
      net gains (losses) on investments $  .48 $  .50 $  .23 1 $  .41 $  .42 $  .45 $  .46 $  .48 
   Realized net gains (losses)
      on investments .26 .10 - .07 (.11) .25 .09 .21 
   Net income $  .74 $  .60 $  .23 1 $  .48 $  .30 $  .70 $  .55 $  .69 

1 Includes approximately $5.0 million ($3.3 million and $.22 per share, after tax) in losses from hurricanes affecting Florida and 
other southeastern states.
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Baldwin & Lyons, Inc.

Financial Highlights
Year Ended December 31

2004 2003 2002
(dollars in thousands, except per share data)

Operating revenue 1 $ 191,563 $ 165,258 $ 124,575 

Revenue 201,333 175,248 108,130 

Operating income 1 23,955 26,581 23,055 

Net income 30,306 33,075 12,366 

Cash flow from operations 72,344 56,871 38,105

Per share data - diluted 2

    Operating income $   1.62 $ 1.81 $ 1.57 
    Realized net gains (losses) on investments .43 .44 (.73)
    Net income 2.05 2.25 .84 

    Book value 22.04 22.00 19.43 

    Dividends paid to shareholders 2.05 .65 .32 

Return on average shareholders' equity 3 
    Operating income 8.5% 9.9% 9.0%
    Net income 10.8% 12.4% 4.8%

Combined ratio of insurance subsidiaries (GAAP basis) 97.4% 92.0% 91.3%

1  Operating revenue and operating income exclude realized net gains or losses on investments.
2  All per share amounts reflect a five-for-four stock split, effective February 17, 2003.
3  Average shareholders' equity excludes unrealized gains or losses on investments.

Note O - Stock Split
At its regular meeting in February, 2003, the Company's Board of Directors declared a 25% stock dividend in the form of a five-for-
four stock split on the Company’s Class A and Class B Common Stock.  The additional shares were distributed on March 3, 2003 
to shareholders of record on February 17, 2003.  Fractional shares were settled in cash using the closing market value on February 
17, 2003.  All share and per share references within this report have been restated to reflect the stock split.

Note P - New Accounting Pronouncement
In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 
123 (revised 2004), Share-Based Payment (“SFAS No. 123R”), which is a revision of SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based 
Compensation (“SFAS No. 123”) and supersedes APB Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees. SFAS No. 123R 
requires all share-based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, to be recognized in the financial state-
ments based on their fair values.  Pro forma disclosure is no longer an alternative.  

The company adopted the fair-value-based method of accounting for share-based payments effective with grants of market value 
options to non-employee directors during 2004 using the “modified prospective method” described in SFAS No. 148, Accounting for 
Stock-Based Compensation—Transition and Disclosure.  Currently, the company uses a Black-Scholes-Merton model to estimate the 
value of stock options granted to non-employee directors and expects to continue to use this acceptable option valuation model upon 
the required adoption of SFAS No. 123R on July 1, 2005.  The company does not anticipate that adoption of SFAS No. 123R will 
have a material impact on its results of operations or its financial position.  However, SFAS No. 123R also requires that the benefits 
of tax deductions in excess of recognized compensation cost to be reported as a financing cash flow, rather than as an operating cash 
flow as required under current literature.  This requirement will reduce net operating cash flows and increase net financing cash 
flows in periods after the effective date.  While the company cannot estimate what those amounts will be in the future (because they 
depend on, among other things, when option exercises occur), the amount of operating cash flows recognized in prior periods for 
such excess tax deductions were $226, $147, and $26 in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

For discounted stock options granted to employees and non-employee directors, there is no difference in the accounting treatment 
under SFAS No. 123 versus the previously used principle as provided by Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, Accounting 
for Stock Issued to Employees, and related Interpretations.
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